

# LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Reconstructing Si cycling in transition zones during the Holocene using terrestrial and aquatic records

Nantke, Carla

2020

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Nantke, C. (2020). *Reconstructing Si cycling in transition zones during the Holocene using terrestrial and aquatic records* (LUNDQUA THESIS ed.). [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Quaternary Sciences]. Lund University, Quaternary Geology, Department of Geology.

Total number of authors: 1

Creative Commons License: GNU LGPL

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Reconstructing Si cycling in transition zones during the Holocene using terrestrial and aquatic records

CARLA K. M. NANTKE QUATERNARY SCIENCES | DEPARTMENT OF GEOLOGY | LUND UNIVERSITY 2020





Quaternary Sciences Department of Geology Lund University Sölvegatan 12 SE-223 62 Lund, Sweden Telephone +46 46 222 78 80

> ISSN 0281-3033 ISBN 978-91-87847-52-3



# Reconstructing Si cycling in transition zones during the Holocene using terrestrial and aquatic records

Carla K. M. Nantke



Quaternary Sciences Department of Geology

DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Science, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Pangea, Geocentrum II, Sölvagatan 12. Date 04.12.2020 and time 13:15.

> *Faculty opponent* George E. A. Swann University of Nottingham, UK

Copyright Carla K. M. Nantke

Quaternary Sciences Department of Geology Faculty of Science

ISBN 978-91-87847-52-3 Lundqua Thesis (print) ISBN 978-91-87847-53-0 Lundqua Thesis (pdf) ISSN 0281-3033

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University, Lund 2015



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN

Organization	Document name			
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION			
Department of Geology				
Sölvegatan 12				
SE-223 62 Lund				
Sweden				
	Date of issue			
Author(s): Carla K.M. Nantke	Sponsoring organization			
Title and subtitl: Reconstructing Si cycling in transition zones during the Holocene using terrestrial and aquatic records				
Abstract				
Global biogeochemical cycles and their interactions are an important parts of climate research. Investigations dur-				
ing the last decades emphasize the key role of diatoms - siliceous phytoplankton - in the silicon (Si) cycle as they are				
important carbon sequesters in both marine and lacustrine environments. Torrestrial Si custing and especially flux				
as a reast the viscot set of the both maintening and accust me chronometers. For the global ci budget Chifts from natural				
es across the vegetation-soli interface are highly variable but important for the global Si budget. Shifts from natural				

The aim of this PhD project is to further constrain changes in the continental Si budget and link them to environmental factors such as land cultivation, deforestation, and salinity. Our study sites, Chesapeake Bay (East coast of the United States) and Tiefer See (north-eastern Germany) record climate and vegetation changes as well as human settlements during the Holocene. The measurement of biogenic Si (BSi) fluxes and Si isotopes in diatom frustules  $(\delta^{30}Si_{diatom})$  separated from sediment cores, create a record of terrestrial Si cycling back in time, which then can be

vegetation to cultivated soils have been shown to impact the Si cycle in modern soil systems. Coastal zones and lake sediments provide suitable archives to investigate how human land use modified the terrestrial Si cycle in the past.

linked to the factors mentioned above.

Our results show that increasing human activity, especially deforestation and crop harvest impact the terrestrial Si cycle on geologically short time scales (decades-centuries). Changes in dissolved Si inputs from the catchment area dominate the variation in Si cycling in terrestrial freshwater systems; in contrast to marine environments where  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub> is a proxy for Si utilization. On a local scale, Si inputs can alter the budget of lake within decades.

Overall this thesis investigates how climate and human activity influence the so called 'terrestrial Si loop' determining the amount of Si delivered to the ocean.

Key words: Biogenic silica, Si isotopes, diatoms, human impact, Holocene				
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)				
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English		
ISSN and key title: 0281-3033 LUNDQUA THESIS		ISBN 978-91-87847-52-3		
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 131	Price		
	Security classification			

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature: C. Nultur

Date: 26.10.2020

# Contents

LIST OF PAPERS	2	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3	
INTRODUCTION		
BACKGROUND	4	
The global Si cycle	4	
Importance of Si and connection to other biogeochemical cycles	5	
SILICA IN DIATOMS	5	
Measurement of Si isotope ratios in diatoms	6	
TRANSITION ZONES	8	
State of the Art: The continental Si cycle	9	
Aquatic filters: Si in lakes ans coastal zones	9	
Human impact on the Si cycle	12	
AIMS AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS	14	
METHODS	14	
Water samples	14	
Investigation of the diatom community	14	
BSi measurements	15	
Seperation of diatoms	15	
Isotope measurements ( $\delta^{30}$ Si <sub>diatom</sub> )	15	
SUMMARY OF PAPERS	17	
Paper I: Si cycling in transition zones	17	
Paper II: The influence of land use on continental Si fluxes	18	
Paper III: Si isotopes in lake pore waters	19	
DISCUSSION	20	
The potential of investigating coastal sediments	20	
Coastal zones and lakes as archives of the continental Si cylce	21	
The variation in BSi fluxes	21	
DSi supply	22	
Humanm impact on continental Si fluxes	23	
Controls on Si (re)cycling in lake sediments	24	
CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PRESPECTIVES	25	
SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING	26	
REFERENSES	26	
PAPER I	33	
PAPER II	71	
PAPER III	101	

RECONSTRUCTING SI CYCLING IN TRANSITION ZONES DURING THE HOLOCENE USING TERRESTRIAL AND AQUATIC RECORDS

# List of Papers

This thesis is based on three papers listed below, which have been appended to this thesis. Paper I is published in *Biogeochemistry*, Paper II has been submitted to *Quaternary Science Reviews* and is in revision, Paper III is a manuscript.

#### Paper I: Si cycling in transition zones

Nantke, C.K.M., Frings, P.J., Stadmark, J., Czymzik, M. and Conley, D.J. (2019). Si cycling in transition zones – a study of Si isotopes and biogenic silica accumulation in the Chesapeake Bay through the Holocene. *Biogeochemistry 146*, 145-170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-019-00613-1.

#### Paper II: The influence of land use changes on continental Si fluxes

Nantke, C.K.M., Brauer, A. Frings, P.J., Czymzik, M., Hübener, T., Stadmark, J., Dellwig, O., Roeser, P. and Conley, D.J.(in review). Human influence on the continental Si budget during the last 4300 years:  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  in varved lake sediments (Tiefer See, NE Germany), Submitted to *Quaternary Science Reviews*, in review.

#### Paper III: Si isotopes in lake pore waters

Nantke, C.K.M., Frings, P.J., Stamm, F., Dellwig, O., Roeser, P., Czymzik, M., Brauer, A., and Conley, D.J. (manuscript). Si cycling in lake sediments – Si isotopes and dissolved Si concentrations in pore waters from Tiefer See (TSK), northeastern Germany, manuscript.

# Acknowledgements

This PhD thesis was a long journey with a lot of ups and downs. Overall I am very grateful for the fun and interesting experience that was offered to me. I've learned a lot, seen a lot of nice places and met even more nice people during these 5 years.

First of all I want to thank all the colleagues and friends I found along the way without whom I wouldn't have pulled it through. Thank you so much Petra, Maria, Guillaume, Zhouling, Bingjie, Rosine, Franzi and Tjördis and all the people I have forgotton. Thank you that you shared this experience with me and for all the fun times! Your support during the whole time of my PhD was essential and kept me going on, especially during more frustrating times.

Special thanks also go to my supervisor and friend Patrick Frings for all the support and nice times we spent in Potsdam and (lately) on Zoom. Your input helped me a lot to develop the project and finish it in the end. I was lucky that you always took the time even in very busy times.

Also, I thank Johanna Stadmark for constructive advice and support along the way. You always took the time to listen and helped with Swedish translations also on very short notice! Tusen tack!

My main supervisor Daniel Conley I thank especially for giving me the freedom to develop my own ideas and for extending my PhD when time got scarce. I had a lot of fun in the SiCON group!

I thank Helge Arz for welcoming me in the Geology group at the IOW in Rostock for the last year of my PhD, where I met a lot of great people and science from a different perspective. Additionally I want to thank Achim Brauer who offered me an opportunity when I was stuck in my project.

And last but not least many thanks to Markus, who always supported me no matter how unreasonable I was during that time, especially towards the end of my PhD. I wouldn't have made it without you!

# Introduction

The cycling of elements on Earth, e.g. the so-called biogeochemical cycles (e.g. C, N, P, Si, Fe, ...), are key processes governing the Earth's evolution and describe the global transport and transformation of elements. Chemical, physical and biological processes determine the distribution of elements forming compounds. These elements or compounds accumulate in the environment in soils, lakes, and oceans, and they are transported and cycled between them. Studies, especially within the last two decades, aim to reconstruct and analyze these reservoirs and fluxes, to provide information about processes influencing and altering their pathways.

We have greatly deepened our understanding of the global silicon (Si) cycle with the first comprehensive mass-balance of the modern ocean in the mid-1990s (Tréguer et al. 1995). Previous work has focused on the variability of Si fluxes within one of the two main Si sub-cycles: the terrestrial environment and the marine Si cycle (Fig. 1) (e.g. Frings et al. 2016). However, there are still knowledge gaps concerning Si connectivity between the cycles and the storage of biogenic silica (BSi) in aquatic sediments.

Today the majority of continental ecosystems are over-exploited and influenced by humans: deforestation, intensive land use, increasing nutrient loads and damming are only a few of the processes by which modern societies impact global nutrient cycles. Additionally, changes in terrestrial ecosystems (e.g. vegetation, land use) can have an effect on Si distributions and export.

The primary aim of this PhD project is to better understand the pathway between the continental environments and the aquatic Si cycle. Terrestrial Si fluxes from soils to rivers and lakes are the most important Si sources to the ocean Potentially influenced by natural and anthropogenic vegetation changes as well as climate shifts, these fluxes are currently poorly constrained.

Transition zones, including coastal areas and lakes, are suitable archives to investigate Si fluxes from the continents to the ocean due to their location between these realms. Sediment cores record changes in terrestrial Si cycling but also climate and vegetation shifts, allowing multi-proxy studies. By measuring Si isotopes in deposited diatom frustules, we have a tool to disentangle different processes. potentially influencing the Si availability (Si source) and Si uptake (diatom production) in an ecosystem.

# 2. Background

### 2.1 The global Si cycle

Biogeochemical cycles describe the exchange of material and energy on the Earth's surface, influencing the functioning of ecosystems on different temporal and spatial scales (Hedges 1992). Fueled by geophysical forcing and thermal energy, the transfer of elements determines the distribution of nutrients and is closely linked to ecological processes (Van Cappellen 2003).

Silicon is the second most abundant element in the Earth's crust (28.8%) (Rudnick and Gao 2003). It is widely distributed and occurs naturally in three broadly defined structural phases: as mineral, crystalline silicates in the lithosphere of the Earth (LSi); as amorphous silica (ASi) including incorporated in organisms (biogenic silica, BSi) and found in soils and sediments; and as dissolved silica (ortho-silicic acid, Si(OH)<sub>4</sub>, hereafter termed dissolved silica = DSi) that is dissolved in water (e.g

rivers, groundwater, oceans).

The global Si cycle consists of two main subcycles: the terrestrial and the marine Si cycles (Fig. 1). Chemical weathering processes cause the mobilization of Si from minerals in the lithosphere and the release of DSi. For example:

 $CaSiO_3 + 3H_2O + 2CO_2 \rightarrow 2HCO_3 + Ca^{2+} + Si(OH)_4$  (1)

Here, wollastonite is hydrolyzed to produce bicarbonate and calcium ions in solution, releasing DSi. Note that this reaction results in the conversion of  $CO_2$  to a form that can ultimately be precipitated as carbonate minerals. It enters the soil/regolith solution where it can be taken up by plants and fixed as phytoliths (in the form of BSi), precipitated as a secondary phase, or exported in rivers and groundwater to the ocean. DSi is used by siliceous organisms, most importantly the diatoms, radiolarians and sponges. Recycling in the water column and the storage of BSi in sediments are the main processes controlling the aquatic Si pool. Diagenetic and tectonic processes ultimately transform the deposited BSi into more stable (alumino-)silicates, closing the cycle and returning Si from the marine environment to the lithosphere.

Recent models have estimated a DSi load of 9.4 Tmol Si  $a^{-1}$  delivered to the oceans, of which river



Figure 1: Schematic figure of the global Si cycle. The thickness of the arrows approximates the magnitude of the fluxes (Frings et al. 2014).

CARLA K. M. NANTKE

discharge is the most important source (around 64%). The DSi is transported with a mean stable isotope composition (expressed as  $\delta^{30}$ Si, the deviation of the <sup>30</sup>Si/<sup>28</sup>Si ratio from that of the reference material NBS28) of 1.28% (n = 544) (Frings et al. 2016). This value is influenced by lithology, biotic and abiotic conditions and the water residence time of rivers, lakes and estuaries. With longer residence times favouring recycling processes in the water column and sediments that are an important control on the amount of DSi available for utilization by organisms (diatoms, radiolarians, sponges). A mean accumulation rate of 6.3 Tmol Si a<sup>-1</sup> (of which coastal areas comprise around 3.3  $\pm$  2.1 Tmol Si a<sup>-1</sup>) makes the ocean the main Si sink (Tréguer and De La Rocha 2013).

### 2.2 Importance of Si and connection to other biogeochemical cycles

The Si cycle is coupled to the long-term (or 'geologic') carbon cycle. On long time scales (>106 yrs) chemical weathering of siliceous rocks consumes a considerable amount (~12 Tmol a<sup>-1</sup>) of carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  (see equation 1) by the production of bicarbonate (Gaillardet et al. 1999; Moon et al. 2014), which is ultimately deposited in the sediments. High atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations are related to high temperatures and global precipitation rates and, therefore, increasing weathering rates, which act as a negative feedback on atmospheric pCO<sub>2</sub>. On shorter time scales, the contribution of siliceous phytoplankton (especially diatoms) to carbon sequestration in marine environments is of greater importance (Struyf et al. 2009). Due to their robust Si frustules or shells diatoms have high sinking rates and longer dissolution times than other phytoplankton, which makes them relevant in the export of Si and C to the sea floor. Recent studies suggested that not only diatoms in the marine environment, but also Si depositing organisms in terrestrial ecosystems can significantly influence CO<sub>2</sub> levels (Carey and Fulweiler 2012). Grasslands and crops both store a large amount of Si in their tissues and are thus potentially efficient in carbon sequestration in terrestrial ecosystems, similar to the role of diatoms in the oceans.

A system of global mass transfer processes directly and/or indirectly connects Si to the other main nutrient cycles: carbon (C), phosphorus (P) and nitrogen (N). The increase of N and P loading to marine environments caused by human activities has had a major influence on ecological functions and community structure. Changes in nutrient availability can cause shifts in food chains and trophic cascades. Major shifts of pools and fluxes within the Si cycle thus can alter the availability of other nutrients. Together the balance of biogeochemical cycles determines the structure and function of biotic communities and can influence the Earth's climate on regional and global scales.

### 3. Silica in diatoms

Diatoms - siliceous phytoplankton – are a key group of aquatic primary producers and often dominate the springbloom. The species composition and population size are dependent on the specific environmental tolerances of the taxa to variables such as water temperature, salinity, food web community and nutrient supply (Carstensen et al. 2015). Due to their sensitivity and their ability to remain preserved in sediments, diatoms are often used as indicators of paleo-environmental change. Furthermore, diatoms sequester around 25.8 Gton (2322 Tmol) C a<sup>-1</sup>, comprising 43% of the total oceanic net primary production (Tréguer et al. 2020).



Figure 2: The relationship of Si content (pmol Si) to biovolume of freshwater diatoms (blue circles) and marine diatoms (orange squares) (Conley et al. 1989)

The transport of C from surface waters to the sediments makes them important contributors in the so called "biological pump" absorbing  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere (Sun et al. 2014). Their requirement for DSi often makes it the limiting nutrient for the production of diatom populations (Conley et al. 1993).

The BSi content bound in diatom frustules varies with the diatom composition (Sutton et al. 2013). Findings of Conley et al. (1989) showed positive correlation to size and differences in orders of magnitude between diatom species. In general, marine diatom species (orange squares in Fig. 2) build less heavily silicified frustules than freshwater species (blue circles, Fig. 2). Due to relatively low DSi concentrations in ocean waters, the majority of marine diatoms adapt to these conditions by lowering their reuirement for silica as a nutrient (Conley et al. 1989). Differences in size distributions could be explained by nitrogen vs. phosphorus limitation, nutrient fluctuations and mixed layer depth differences between freshwater and marine ecosystems (Litchman et al. 2009).

Complex competition conditions have been observed for diatoms in aquatic ecosystems, where different water masses meet. Distinctive fractionation factors (see section 3.1) for DSi uptake between species may also occur (Sutton et al. 2013), but species dependent fractionation is difficult to observe because single species are hard to separate due to their small size and often overlapping size ranges between different species. Addressing this challenge, for our studies we decided to hand-pick single diatom frustules from pre-cleaned samples (see method section). There are several advantages here: this approach provides the opportunity to look into every sample in detail and assess the diatom composition. The purity of the samples increases by choosing single frustules individually. For example, remains of organic matter or clays potentially attached to diatom frustules in the sediment could be detected and removed if necessary. Secondly, a single species or genus diatom record is possible to measure. This avoids the potential influence of species-specific fractionation. The comparability within the record over time increases. Further, the picked species/genus can be described and discussed in context of the diatom population in the ecosystem. For example bloom forming taxa are expected to record a different signal than those which grow in high DSi situations. Constrained by

the availability of single-species diatom frustules through a sediment core nevertheless, this would enhance the comparability of isotope data by minimizing the uncertainty associated with species/ genera specific fractionation. Small cell sizes in freshwater systems, however, limit the possibility of hand-picking samples. Diatom frustules <50  $\mu$ m are difficult to identify with light microscopy and to hand-pick properly.

# 3.1 Measurement of Si isotope ratios in diatoms

Silicon has three naturally occurring stable isotopes with different abundances (<sup>28</sup>Si = 92.23%, <sup>29</sup>Si = 4.67%, <sup>30</sup>Si = 3.10%) (Faure and Mensing 2005). The mass difference between the three nuclides causes slight differences in reaction rate constants or partition coefficients between the individual isotopes that induces isotope fractionation as Si is cycled in the natural environment. Due to the bigger mass difference often the ratio of <sup>28</sup>Si and <sup>30</sup>Si is measured and expressed in the  $\delta$ -notation (in ‰).  $\delta^{30}$ Si is defined as follows:

#### $\delta^{30}\text{Si} = [({}^{30}\text{Si}/{}^{28}\text{Si}_{sample})/({}^{30}\text{Si}/{}^{28}\text{Si}_{standard^*})-1] \times 1000 \quad (2)$

\*the accepted standard is NBS28 (National Institute of Standard and Technology RM#8546 (Carignan et al. 2004)).

The fractionation factor ( $\alpha$ ) is determined by isotope effects (kinetic or equilibrium). Kinetic fractionation is unidirectional with the product not reacting with the substrate. Equilibrium fractionation, by contrast describes the condition when the chemical reactions are in equilibrium and the reactants interact with each other.

$${}^{x}\alpha_{substrate-product} = {}^{R_{substrate}} / R_{product}$$
(3)

where R is the ratio of  ${}^{29}$ Si/ ${}^{28}$ Si or  ${}^{30}$ Si/ ${}^{28}$ Si.

Since  $\alpha$  is close to one the fractionation  $\epsilon$  is often conveniently presented in permille (‰) notation as epsilon:

$${}^{x} \varepsilon_{substrate-product} = 10^{3} \left( {}^{x} \alpha_{substrate-product} - 1 \right) \quad (4)$$

The relationship between  $\delta^{30}$ Si and  $\delta^{29}$ Si is a predictable function of the mass dependence of the fractionation factors and is used to track potential polyatomic interferences during mass spectrometry, where especially <sup>14</sup>H<sup>16</sup>O<sup>+</sup> have been reported to cause potential molecular interferences (Cardinal et al. 2003).

 $\delta^{30}$ Si values measured in diatom frustules are increasingly used for paleoenvironmental interpretation. Diatoms take up Si from the surrounding water and discriminate against the heavier Si isotopes <sup>30</sup>Si and <sup>29</sup>Si. This selective utilization leads to a relative depletion of light <sup>28</sup>Si isotopes in the remaining DSi, i.e. a shift towards higher  $\delta^{30}$ Si. Two different models describe the evolution of Si isotope ratios as diatoms progressively deplete a pool of available DSi: the Rayleigh model (eq. 5) and the steady-state model (eq. 6) (de la Rocha et al. 1997; Varela et al. 2004).

$$\delta^{30}Si_{product} = \delta^{30}Si_{initial\ substrate} - {\binom{f_{Si}}{1 - f_{Si}}} \times \varepsilon^{30}_{substrate-product} \times \ln(f_{Si}) \quad (5)$$
  
$$\delta^{30}Si_{product} = \delta^{30}Si_{initial\ substrate} + \varepsilon^{30}_{substrate-product} \times f_{Si} \quad (6)$$

The Rayleigh model (Fig. 3) describes the isotope fractionation of Si during the uptake of DSi by diatoms under the assumption of a fixed pool of silica with a certain initial isotope composition assuming the diatoms do not re-dissolve. Because diatoms favour the lighter <sup>28</sup>Si, the surrounding water becomes depleted in light isotopes with a fractionation factor of  $-1.1 \pm 0.4\%$  (De la Rocha et al. 1997). Conversely, the steady-state model assumes an open system with a continuous Si supply from a steady external source. Both approaches define a mass balance model constrained within 0 and 100% of Si utilization. The fractionation factor is defined as the fractionation between the dissolved and the solid Si phase. The fractionation ( $\epsilon$ ) is constant in both models and determines the shape of the curve dependent on the DSi supply (Varela et al. 2004). When the Si utilization is 100% the  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  must equal  $\delta^{30}Si_{water}$  . However, when it comes to paleo-climatic interpretation of Si isotope data the difference between the models is generally small, since the  $\delta^{30}$ Si of the accumulated diatoms in the sediment in both models are quite similar considering proportional loss of biogenic opal along



Figure 3: Rayleigh Model (black lines) and steady-state model (red lines) display the utilization of DSi by diatoms and the associated fractionation factors in a closed and open system respectively (Frings et al. 2016). The initial  $\delta^{30}$ Si of the water (solid line) and the  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub> (broken line) are plotted on the y-axes along a Si utilization factor plotted on the x-axis.

the Si utilization gradient (Fig. 3, compare dotted black line and broken red line) (De la Rocha et al. 1997).

Si isotope measurements in diatom frustules provide a tool to reconstruct the relative Si utilization if the initial composition and the fractionation associated with biogenic silica production are known. Assuming the fractionation is known and constant,  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  is controlled by two main parameters (Fig. 3):  $\delta^{30}$ Si of the ambient water ( $\delta^{30}Si_{DSi}$ ) during diatom growth and the relative amount of DSi utilization, i.e. the ratio of biogenic silica production to DSi supply (related to the BSi burial flux). This leads to two contrasting endmember interpretations. Most commonly, as a paleo-proxy diatom  $\delta^{30}$ Si is used to infer relative changes in Si utilization and thus to interpret changes in Si cycling through time (De La Rocha et al. 1998). Alternatively, diatom  $\delta^{30}$ Si can be interpreted as yielding information about the changes in DSi supply from the terrestrial ecosystem. This allows conclusions about abiotic and biotic controls of the Si fluxes from the continents to be drawn (Opfergelt and Delmelle 2012). To distinguish between these two processes is the most important challenge for interpreting Si isotope records.

The measurement of  $\delta^{30} Si_{\rm diatom}$  requires special attention because other compounds/organisms



Figure 4: The range of Si isotope values measured on different material (Frings et al., 2016).

containing Si create the potential for contamination that can influence  $\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle 30} Si_{_{diatom}}$  if the sample is not properly prepared (Egan et al. 2012). Typical  $\delta^{30}$ Si values for different natural materials are shown in Figure 4 (Frings et al. 2016). In particular, contamination of a diatom sample with secondary clay minerals or sponge spicules, with generally low isotope values, would shift the measured  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$ and make it invalid. Such an effect has been shown for the oxygen isotope composition of diatoms (Mackay et al. 2011) Finally, the fractionation cannot always be assumed constant through time in a natural system. Possible changes due to species shifts are a challenge measuring diatom bulk samples, especially in dynamic ecosystems as coasts and lakes. However, hand-picking individual diatom frustules from specific species or genera tackles these challenges providing a tool for paleo-studies in complex ecosystems.

### 4. Transition zones

The transition zone between the continents and the ocean is particularly important for global nutrient cycles. A variety of sources and processes determine material fluxes and therefore geochemical processes. A growing number of studies have highlighted the role of net land-ocean inputs of dissolved and solid material (Jeandel 2016). River inputs are identified as one of the most important material sources transporting dissolved, colloid or solid forms. Peucker-Ehrenbrink (2009) estimated a freshwater runoff of approximately 38900 km<sup>3</sup> a<sup>-1</sup> and suspended sediment delivery to the coastal ocean of  $\sim 19$  Gtons a<sup>-1</sup> summarising 19 large scale drainage regions. Due to imbalances between sources and sinks in the land-ocean system, recent studies proposed sources and sinks along the margins to play a key role and explain these gaps, the so-called 'boundary exchange' processes (Jeandel 2016). Si sinks like BSi formation and reverse weathering for example can be balanced with submarine groundwater discharge in shallow coastal aquifers, recently estimated to around 3 Tmol  $a^{-1}$  proposed by Rahman et al. (2019).

These 'boundary effects' describe the interactions between elements and sediment (Fig. 5): Elements can get scavenged particulates, dissolved and/or be buried in the sediments. All of these processes can occur several times within the coastal zone and



Figure 5: Potential sources and sinks of dissolved elements and isotopes (dTEI) (Homoky et al. 2016)

determine the element ocean budget (Homoky et al. 2016). Paleo-studies comparing element fluxes and isotope ratios are helpful to assess changes and process links through time. Further measurements of pore water profiles can help to better understand the complex system of nutrient (re)cycling in the sediments of transition zones.

# 4.1 State of the Art: The continental Si cycle

The biogeochemical cycle of Si in soil ecosystems has been intensively investigated during the last decade, raising new questions. Terrestrial ecosystems act as a filter that controls the amount of Si exported to the marine Si cycle. This concept of the 'ecosystem Si filter' (Struyf and Conley 2012) describes the fixation and recycling processes in the terrestrial Si cycle (Fig. 6). The annual fixation of Si in terrestrial vegetation amounts to approximately 84 Tmol and exceeds the yearly export of DSi to the coastal zone by more than 10 times (6.18 Tmol DSi export)(Carey and Fulweiler 2012; Frings et al. 2016).

The weathering of primary silicates is the ultimate source of DSi. However, the importance of the silicate mineral fraction for the Si nutrient cycle can differ according to the geology on a regional scale. Weathering rates are influenced by temperature, hydrology, solution chemistry and the exposure of new reactive surfaces by erosion. In addition, the composition and availability of primary silicates (e.g. feldspar, olivine) and rates of secondary mineral formation modify DSi availability and the isotope signature ( $\delta^{30}Si_{DSi}$ ) of the soil waters and can vary on very local scales (catchment scale).

Part of the DSi released from weathering is stored in Si soil pools (amorphous silica pools, ASi pools) that can differ naturally depending upon vegetation and climate (e.g. temperature, precipitation) and range typically between 15000 and 105000 kg SiO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> (Struyf and Conley 2011). In an undisturbed landscape the uptake of DSi from the soils follows the natural seasonality of the vegetation. During the vegetation growth period, the plants take up DSi from the soils, store it in their tissues as phytoliths and return it during their decay. Consequently, the ASi pool consists primarily of biogenic Si (BSi) mainly as plant phytoliths but also terrigenous forms e.g. Si adsorbed to soil particles especially Al and Fe oxides/hydroxides (Sauer et al. 2006; Clymans et al. 2011b). Physical conditions such as temperature, salinity and pH influence the reactivity/dissolution rates of ASi in soils, waters and sediments. The size of the ASi pool stored in soils is also dependent on the occurrence of organisms specialized in the uptake and utilization of silica. In terrestrial ecosystems, grasses are known to be efficient accumulators of silica influencing the DSi fluxes in the surrounding soil (Cooke and Leishman 2012). Altogether the continental Si cycle is a complex system with various sources and sinks that can be altered by natural and anthropogenic processes already on very local scales. Especially the more reactive ASi pool has been shown to be vulnerable to disturbances (see section 4.3).

# 4.2 Aquatic filters: Si in lakes and coastal zones

Global models estimate the amount and variability of Si cycling through ecosystems. Uncertainties arise from the transition zones (rivers, lakes and coastal zones) where a part of the mobilized Si in soils accumulate in their sediments, largely as biogenic silica remains, before the remainder is transported to the oceans. Within the last two decades most studies focused on the Si cycle in the open ocean and terrestrial soils, considering the transition zones (river, lakes, estuaries) to be a rather passive connection between them. However recent studies (e.g. Hughes et al. 2012; Cockerton et al. 2015; Rahman et al. 2017) started to highlight the role of continental margins and lakes suggesting RECONSTRUCTING SI CYCLING IN TRANSITION ZONES DURING THE HOLOCENE USING TERRESTRIAL AND AQUATIC RECORDS



Figure 6: Conceptual model of the continental Si cycle including the terrestrial Si subcycle and the transition zone: lakes and coastal areas.

potential Si effluxes and sinks that can change the Si isotope composition in the transition zones before reaching the open ocean. However, further studies are required to investigate the suite of climate and land use parameters that together determine terrestrial Si cycling and consequently  $\delta^{30}Si_{\text{DSi}}$  values in adjacent aquatic ecosystems.

#### **Coastal zones**

Coastal marine areas are among the most productive ecosystems worldwide and often have a long history of human disturbance (Jickells 1998). Nutrient replete conditions favour high productivity and typically, the dominance of diatoms. Relatively short water residence times (from weeks to months) make them sensitive to environmental changes on geologically short timescales (years to centuries) (Jickells 1998) that might be difficult to resolve in more buffered ocean waters. Major Si inputs to coastal areas from terrestrial ecosystems are transported via tributaries, groundwater flow and direct overland flow (Laruelle et al. 2009; Tréguer and De La Rocha 2013).

Mangalaa et al. (2017) identified four major factors that influence the Si cycle in coastal areas: (i) lithogenic supply through changing weathering rates, (ii) diatom uptake related to population size and composition, (iii) mixing ratios of sea water and freshwater and (iv) land use changes (related to changes in vegetation, soil system and hydrology). Further, reverse weathering has been suggested to enhance the preservation efficiency of Si in coastal zones (Aller 2014; Frings et al. 2016; Rahman et al. 2017).

DSi concentrations along the salinity gradient have been investigated to better understand recent Si dynamics in coastal areas (Dürr et al. 2011; Barão et al. 2015; Mangalaa et al. 2017). A 14-year monitoring period in the Rhode River sub-watersheds of the Chesapeake Bay (hereafter 'CB') revealed interannual variations in Si fluxes, that could be linked to precipitation changes and water discharge (Correll et al. 2000). Dry winters were found to cause low DSi discharge and subsequent Si limitation in the RhodeRiver estuary (Correll et al. 2000). Seasonality in DSi supply and uptake (through diatoms in the dry season) along the pH and salinity gradient in Indian estuaries highlight the importance of freshwater/ seawater mixing ratios on the Si cycle in estuaries (Mangalaa et al. 2017).

#### Lakes

Freshwater lakes - as a part of the continental Si cycle - are net sinks for Si and retain on average 30% of inflowing DSi (Frings et al. 2014). At the global scale, estimation of Si retention in rivers and lakes varies between 1.15 Tmol Si a<sup>-1</sup> to 2.4 Tmol Si a<sup>-1</sup> (Laruelle et al. 2009; Clymans et al. 2011b; Dürr et al. 2011). Previous studies were able to calculate the importance of different Si sources: groundwater, river input, atmospheric inputs and re-supply from the sediments in Lake Lugano (Switzerland) in

modern waters (Hofmann et al. 2002) and theoretically in a box model based on global data from oceans and continents (Laruelle et al. 2009). Frings et al. (2014) estimated the global storage of Si in lake sediments, using a dataset of 34 lakes with different environmental properties: pH, latitude, elevation and surface area. However, it was shown that the Si retention in different lakes cannot be explained with only these parameters but depends on a variety of distinctive conditions in the lake and the catchment.

The Si residence time (Si inventory/Si input) of lakes provides information about reactivity and recycling rates in an ecosystem. Long residence times make the inventory important in sustaining production and buffering against short-term perturbations in supply, but can lead to Si depletion over longer time scales (e.g. Great Lakes) (Schelske et al. 1983). Short residence times are typical for coastal zones and small lakes, which make the system more dependent on Si inputs. On longer time scales (longer than the Si residence time) the influences of BSi recycling in the water column on the  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  can be neglected.

Lake water Si isotope data are limited. Available datasets include the lakes Tanganyika (East Africa) (Alleman et al. 2005), lake Baikal (Russia) (Panizzo et al. 2017; Swann et al. 2020) and Myvatn (Iceland) (Opfergelt et al. 2011), examining the seasonal and spatial variations in DSi utilization and export. Published values range from 0.7‰ in Myvatn to 2.28‰ in lake Baikal.

Lake diatom paleo-environmental records are similarly scarce. The first studies of silicon isotopes measured in lacustrine diatoms were published for lake Rutundu (Kenya) (Street-Perrott et al. 2008), lake El'gygytgyn (Russia) (Swann et al. 2010) and lakes Victoria and Edward (East Africa)(Cockerton et al. 2015). All three studies discuss them together with  $\delta^{\rm 18}O_{\rm diatom}$  to investigate the role of climate shifts on Si cycling and emphasize the potential of  $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$ in lakes.  $\delta^{30}$ Si data (0.9 - 1.4‰) spanning the last 23000 years in Siberian Lake El'gygytgyn indicate the importance of large-scale temperature changes and nutrient inputs for controlling  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub> values in an oligotrophic lake in the absence of human activity (Swann et al. 2010). Increasing temperatures favour water column mixing and the recycling of nutrients from bottom waters consequently increase DSi availability and lower  $\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle 30}Si_{\scriptscriptstyle diatom}$  . Cockerton et al. (2015) show the influence of enhanced monsoon rainfall and vegetation changes on weathering rates,

DSi export and consequently  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  on glacial/ interglacial time scales. In Lake Rutundu only a few  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  data points varying between -1.3 and 0.5‰ are interpreted as changes in input, source and/or recycling of Si in an open system. A recent study from Lake Baikal suggests the main process predominating the  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  variation to shift from Si utilization (during the last 2000 years) to Si supply in the 20th and 21st – century (Swann et al. 2020).

Given the shorter residence time,  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  in lakes is generally a proxy for Si supply, unlike in the ocean, where it is largely seen as a Si utilization proxy. Due to the seasonal total depletion of DSi in the surface water after spring bloom, the isotope ratio captures the signal of the lake water and Si inputs. However, due to the dynamic of lake systems with a variety of processes, the interpretation of  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  as a 'primary' signal without any secondary isotope fractionations is still a concern. Results from lake Baikal however, measured on sediment trap material present a stable isotope signal through the water column indicating the absence of isotope fractionation during potential dissolution processes (Panizzo et al. 2015).

Theresults of very different lake systems (Tanganyika, Myvatn and Baikal) reveal the variation of Si cycling in lake ecosystems and the importance of individual site studies to better understand the conditions and processes. Questions about key controls on the lake Si cycle dominated by lake internal processes like changes in water overturning, nutrient distribution and Si recycling or inputs from the watershed of the lake controlled by Si soil pools, erosion and vegetation changes need to be answered.

#### Si in pore waters

The recycling rate of Si at the water-sediment interface is still understudied and poorly investigated in natural ecosystems. Chemical conditions in the topmost sedimentare potentially influencing the dissolution rate of accumulated BSi and silicate minerals control the DSi flux from the sediment. Recent studies focus on pore waters in marine ecosystems using Si isotopes ( $\delta^{30}Si_{pw}$ ) to assess (re)cycling processes (Ehlert et al. 2016; Geilert et al. 2020, Ng et al. 2020; Fig. 7).

The DSi (silicic acid) concentration in sediment pore waters most critically depend on the dissolution

rate of particulate Si influenced by: (i) pH, (ii) temperature, (iii) type and concentration of other Si species (polymers and complexes) and (iv) the availability of additional minerals (Williams and Crerar 1985). Also, the rate of DSi diffusing through the sediment is of importance where a low rate increases the residence time of the fluid and therefore the reactivity. Here temperature and porosity play a major role and need to be considered in natural archives. Previous studies reporting laboratory experiments, showed that the Si dissolution rate increases with temperature, pressure and alkalinity of the solution (Williams and Crerar 1985). Additionally Fe and Al released by detrital minerals can influence (reduce) the solubility of Si (Dixit et al. 2001). Anoxic conditions have been suggested to reduce the release of Si from the sediments (Siipola et al. 2016). However, the investigation of natural archives will help to discuss the interplay of these factors.

Si isotope ratios measured in marine pore waters from the Peruvian upwelling region varies between 1.1 and 1.9‰. Around 25% of the accumulated BSi dissolves and acts as a source of light Si. The authors suggest the importance of the authigenic re-precipitation of previously dissolved BSi in the topmost centimetres of the sediment (Ehlert et al. 2016). A recent study from the Gulf of California, however, found  $\delta^{30}Si_{PW}$  values much lower (around 0‰), implicating the dissolution of Si minerals (clays) as one dominant process in the topmost sediment (Geilert et al. 2020). More field studies are needed to constrain and better understand the processes controlling the recycling of Si in the topmost sediment layers.

#### 4.3 Human impact on the Si cycle

In addition to the natural variability of Si fluxes, there are different anthropogenic influences that can impact the Si transfers in the global Si cycle. The land-ocean interface is especially vulnerable to human influences. Perturbations to the terrestrial Si cycle by agriculture and changes in hydrology have large effects on Si fluxes (Conley et al. 1993; Clymans et al. 2011b). Land use, deforestation and cultivation of landscapes, urbanization and sealing of soils, and the utilization of hydropower through dams all alter ecosystem Si budgets. In general, the preference of plants to take up the lighter <sup>28</sup>Si leads to a soil-water depletion of the light isotopes. In undisturbed environments this lighter Si is returned to the soil system during plant decay processes at the end of the growing season.

Disturbances to the terrestrial Si filter cause changes in Si fluxes at the soil-vegetation interface: Deforestation leads to a declining recycling of Si in soils and a decrease in the ASi pool causing an increase in  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>soil water</sub> (early deforested, Fig. 8). Additional landscape cultivation also alters Si pools and fluxes. Removing plant tissues (and phytoliths) during harvest inhibits the return of light Si isotopes to the soil ASi pool (Vandevenne et al. 2012). This leads to a depletion of the lighter Si isotopes in the soil system and a drawdown in pool size



Figure 7: Published  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>PW</sub> data plotted against DSi (mg l<sup>-1</sup>) (Yellow dots Ng et al., 2020, blue diamonds Ehlert et al., 2016, green, red and purple triangles Geilert et al., 2020).



Figure 8: Conceptual model of variations in Si pools and fluxes in an ecosystem undergoing land use change (from Struyf et al. 2010).

(climax cultivated, Fig. 8) (Vandevenne et al. 2015). Considering the range of published  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  (Fig. 4) and based on findings of this PhD thesis a decrease in  $\delta^{30}Si_{DSi}$  by ~0.5-1‰ is conceivable. The dependence on the ASi pool size, make this estimation vague. The concurrent increase of soil erosion also enhances DSi export from soils (Struyf et al. 2010; Clymans et al. 2011b). Thus, the pool of ASi stored in the soil system further declines (Fig. 8).

Altered Si fluxes from soils reach the fluvial system and influence the amount of Si transported to the ocean as well as its isotope composition. Changes of the hydrology through damming or straightening of rivers additionally influence Si fluxes. Slowing down of rivers through dams can enhance diatom production by creating a lake situation with lower turbidity, higher sedimentation rates and longer Si residence times. Accumulated nutrients enhance the diatom production and the utilization of DSi in rivers expected with damming, observed in the Black Sea and the Baltic Sea (Humborg et al. 2000; Conley et al. 2008). Since aquatic ecosystems are strongly dependent on DSi loads delivered through river inputs, the fluvial Si cycle is not considered to be independent, but highly sensitive to changes

in the terrestrial cycle. Increased nutrient fluxes represent another potential impact on the Si cycle. Large scale exports of nitrogen and phosphorus to ecosystems has visible effects on food webs, favouring organisms with higher nutrient requirements and faster growth rates. As DSi availability is limiting the diatom population, shifts in trophic levels and species composition could be the consequence. An increase in BSi flux caused by a higher nutrient availability would first lead to an increase in  $\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle 30}\text{Si}_{_{diatom}}\text{,}$  due to a higher demand for DSi favoring a smaller expression of fractionation (Fig. 3). When DSi is nearly totally depleted, massbalance dictates that  $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$  records the isotope signal of the source water with an isotope difference around zero.

# 5. Aims and research questions

The aim of this PhD thesis is to improve the understanding of the pathways by which Si is transported from the continents to the oceanic Si cycle. To achieve that, the investigation of Si mobilization and recycling rates in the transition zone is necessary. Diatoms accumulated in aquatic sediments (lakes and coastal zones) provide us the opportunity to reconstruct Si cycling on geologically short time scales (decades to centuries) and to resolve the potential impact of human activity. Paleo-studies help us to constrain the temporal scales on which Si cycling can be altered. The investigation of sediment archives through the Holocene provides an insight into the filter capacity of aquatic freshwater systems and their importance in controlling Si fluxes towards the ocean. Simultaneously, the increasing human impact during the Holocene allows us to reconstruct the influence of land use on the terrestrial Si budget as suggested by observational studies of modern systems (e.g. monitoring rivers for a few years) and chronosequences so far (Clymans et al. 2011b).

This thesis is addressing the following research questions:

1. What are the specific influences on the Si loads transported from the continents to the oceans?

2. Can we distinguish between natural and anthropogenic processes changing Si accumulation in freshwater ecosystems?

3. Which processes are most dominant in altering Si cycling in aquatic freshwater systems?

# 4. Is it possible to separate different Si sources (fluvial, groundwater, BSi recycling) to aquatic ecosystems?

As research sites we investigated the Chesapeake Bay located at the East coast of North America (Paper I) and Tiefer See, a lake in northeastern Germany (Papers II and III). Maps of both locations and site descriptions can be found in the papers.

# 6. Methods

### 6.1 Water samples

Since the availability and isotopic composition of dissolved silica (DSi) in aquatic systems plays an important role for the interpretation of  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$ (see 3.1/Figure 3), monitoring of the modern water DSi helps to constrain the paleo-interpretation of aquatic Si cycling. In this thesis water samples from Tiefer See (TSK) (Papers II and III) were taken monthly between January and December 2019. The samples were filtered through 0.45 µm Nucleopore filters, acidified to approximately pH 2 immediately after collection and stored in a fridge at  $\sim$ 4°C. A water profile at the deepest part of TSK (~52 m water depth) as well as the inlet and outlet were sampled to monitor the Si inputs and fluxes of the modern lake system. Pore water samples (Paper III) were taken from two short cores in October 2019 using Rhizon samplers (described in Seeberg-Elverfeldt et al. 2005; Shotbolt 2010) and acidified to  $\sim$  pH 2. The DSi concentrations of the water were measured on a SmartChem 200 discrete chemical analyzer as described in Galhardo and Masini (2000) see section 6.3.



Figure 9: Hypothetical diagram of Si extraction from sediments (Clymans et al. 2011a).

# 6.2 Investigation of the diatom community

The optical investigation of the diatom frustules in the sample material helped to constrain the preparation steps. The aim was to determine the size and the dominant species species of the diatoms, to adjust the preparation steps and get the most reliable isotope signal. The composition of the diatom community was examined down core for Chesapeake Bay and Tiefer See, analyzing smear slides with an Olympus BX41 microscope at 600x magnification. Additionally, scanning electronic microscopy (SEM) was used to identify specific genera of diatoms in the sediments.

#### 6.3 BSi measurements

Biogenic silica (BSi) measurements in sediment archives are a commonly used method to assess variations in diatom accumulation (Clymans et al. 2011a; Alfredsson et al. 2015; Barão et al. 2015). In this study the BSi concentration of sediment samples (n = 383) was determined using the sequential alkaline extraction method with 0.1 M Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> as developed by DeMaster in 1981 (DeMaster 1981). The method is based on the assumption that aluminosilicate minerals dissolve in a linear way over time, whereas biogenic silica dissolves completely after a treatment of 2 hours. The continuous subsampling after 3, 4 and 5 hours is carried out to track the dissolution of the silica in the sample and to be able to correct for aluminosilicate dissolution (Fig. 9) (DeMaster 1996; Clymans et al. 2011a). The extracted Si was measured on a SmartChem 200 discrete chemical analyzer: Ammonium molybdate reacts with the silicic acid in the sample and forms a molybdosilicic acid complex. Ascorbic acid reduces Mo(IV) to Mo(V) and creates a molybdenum blue compound which is then determined spectrophotometrically (Galhardo and Masini 2000).

### 6.4 Seperation of diatoms

For Si isotope measurements by MC ICP-MS (multi-collector inductively coupled plasma massspectrometry) in natural samples it is necessary to separate and purify the siliceous material carefully. Three main steps include separation, purification and dilution of the Si fraction. The separation of Si from natural samples depends on sample composition, amount of sample and siliceous material (BSi). The purification is based on alkaline dissolution followed by ion-exchange chromatography (Georg et al. 2006).

The separation of biogenic silica (BSi) is a method widely used over the last decades (e.g. Shemesh et al. 1988; de la Rocha et al. 1997; Leng et al. 2009).

For the separation of bulk diatom frustules in the current project, an extraction with three different preparation steps was used:

- 1. Chemical dissolution of organic matter and carbonates with  $H_2O_2$  and HCl, respectively
- 2. Density separation (heavy liquid separation) with sodium polytungstate (SPT) at densities between 2.0 and 2.3 g cm<sup>-3</sup>.
- Division into three different size fractions by sieving (5-25μm, 25-53μm, >53μm)

Due to high organic matter and low BSi contents (<5%) in the samples, the method was adapted to get optimal results: a relatively large amount of sediment ( $\sim$ 3 g) was used for the separation to increase the likelihood of sufficient diatom material in the end. Each sample was covered with 30 ml of  $H_2O_2$  (30%) in a beaker and placed on a hotplate  $(50^{\circ}C)$  to speed up the reaction. The reaction times varied related to sediment compositions between 5 days and 1 month. To separate further contaminants (minerals and clays) several steps of heavy liquid separation with densities of 2.3, 2.2 and 2.0 g cm<sup>-3</sup> were performed. Microplate sieves were used to divide the diatom fraction in three size fractions: 5-25  $\mu$ m, 25-53  $\mu$ m and >53  $\mu$ m. The "large" diatom fraction (>53µm) was prepared for hand-picking under a stereo microscope with a magnification of 50x. From each sample 400-500 diatom frustules were hand-picked and dissolved in 0.5 ml 0.4M NaOH before cation exchange chromatography (see section 6.5).

# 6.5 Isotope measurements $(\delta^{30}Si_{diatom})$

After extracting the diatoms from the sediment (see section 6.4) the frustules were dissolved in 0.4ml 0.4 M NaOH and neutralized with HCl creating 1 ml DSi samples for isotope measurements. Cation exchange chromatography (Georg et al. 2006) was performed to separate the Si from further contaminants. Standards, NBS and Diatomite, were prepared in an identical way during the same analytical sessions. All samples and standards were checked for complete removal of potential contaminants (e.g. Al, Na) with an ICP-OES (inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy). The final Si solutions as well as the standards (NBS28, Diatomite, Big Batch) were diluted to 0.4, 0.5 or 0.6 ppm Si in a 0.1 M HCl

### RECONSTRUCTING SI CYCLING IN TRANSITION ZONES DURING THE HOLOCENE USING TERRESTRIAL AND AQUATIC RECORDS

matrix and doped with Mg accordingly for massspectrometry.  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub> was assessed on a Neptune MC ICP-MS (multi collector inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer) using matrix-matched sample-standard bracketing at the German Research Centre for Geosciences Potsdam (GFZ) following standard protocols (Oelze et al. 2016). Mg isotopes were monitored in dynamic mode to improve the precision of  $\delta^{30}$ Si measurements by correcting for instrumental mass-bias following Cardinal et al. (2003). The corrected ratio of <sup>30</sup>Si to <sup>28</sup>Si is:

$$\left(\frac{{}^{30}\text{Si}}{{}^{28}\text{Si}}\right)_{\text{corr}} = \left(\frac{{}^{30}\text{Si}}{{}^{28}\text{Si}}\right)_{\text{meas}} \times \left(\frac{{}^{30}\text{Si}_{\text{AM}}}{{}^{28}\text{Si}_{\text{AM}}}\right)^{\text{fmg}}$$
(7)

where  $({}^{30}\text{Si}/{}^{28}\text{Si})$  meas is the measured ratio and  $({}^{30}\text{Si}_{AM}/{}^{28}\text{Si}_{AM})$  are the atomic masses of  ${}^{30}\text{Si}$  and  ${}^{28}\text{Si}$ . fMg was determined using the beam intensities on masses 24 and 25:

$$fMg = \ln\left(\frac{\left[\frac{25}{24}Mg\right]_{true}}{\left[\frac{25}{24}Mg\right]_{measured}}\right) / \ln\frac{25}{24}Mg_{AM}}{\left[\frac{25}{24}Mg_{AM}\right]_{measured}}$$
(8)

with 'true' being the theoretical expected value of <sup>25</sup>Mg and <sup>24</sup>Mg, and 'measured' the measured ratio of both isotopes.

The corrected values are used to calculate the Si isotope value relative to the NBS28 standard (see 2.1). Three individual bracketed measurements (standard-sample-standard) were averaged for  $\delta^{30}$ Si and  $\delta^{29}$ Si, respectively.

	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III
Concept and study design	D.J. Conley P.J. Frings C.K.M. Nantke	P.J. Frings C.K.M. Nantke D.J. Conley	C.K.M. Nantke P.J. Frings D.J. Conley
Sample preparation	C.K.M. Nantke	C.K.M. Nantke	C.K.M. Nantke P.J. Frings
Measurements and data analysis	C.K.M. Nantke P.J. Frings	C.K.M. Nantke P.J. Frings	C.K.M. Nantke P.J. Frings
Discussion of results	C.K.M. Nantke P.J. Frings J. Stadmark D.J. Conley	C.K.M. Nantke P.J. Frings D.J. Conley M. Czymzik	C.K.M. Nantke F. Stamm P.J. Frings P. Roeser
Writing	C.K.M. Nantke	C.K.M. Nantke	C.K.M. Nantke
Comments and feedback	All authors	All authors	All authors

Author contributions to Papers I to III:

# 7. Summary of Papers

# Paper I: Si cycling in transition zones

Nantke, C.K.M., Frings, P.J., Stadmark, J., Czymzik, M. and Conley, D.J. (2019)

#### Si cycling in transition zones – a study of Si isotopes and biogenic silica accumulation in the Chesapeake Bay through the Holocene.

*Biogeochemistry, 146: 145-170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-019-00613-1.*  This research article provides the first study of Si isotopes in estuarine diatoms through time. The main aim was to investigate changes and variations of supply, accumulation and recycling rates of Si through the Holocene in the Chesapeake Bay. Processes, both natural and anthropogenic, potentially influencing the Si cycle were considered and discussed (Table 1). The study uses previously measured datasets including vegetation composition (pollen counts), modern DSi monitoring data and proxies characterizing watermixing conditions ( $\delta^{18}$ O, authigenic Rhenium) to support the discussion.

The study site, the Chesapeake Bay (North America), is the largest estuary in the US and has a strong salinity gradient. Two sediment cores, one located

Table 1: Summary of the hypothesized processes influencing  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  in coastal ecosystems (Nantke et al. 2019).

Climate shift	Process	δ <sup>30</sup> Si <sub>diatom</sub>
Enhanced precipitation	Enhanced discharge and enhanced DSi transport to the coastal zone via rivers and ground water flows. Enhanced runoff and erosion of the Si soil pool.	Decrease in $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$
Natural vegetation changes	Changes in uptake and export rates of Si in the terrestrial watershed larger export of soil stored ASi.	Decrease in $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$
	High demands of Si by plants can reduce the Si released to tributaries, ground waters and coastal zones.	Increase in $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$
Water mixing conditions	Precipitation and freshwater delivery influences the mixing conditions in and the distribution of Si (DSi and PSi) in the water column. Marine waters have a relatively high $\delta^{30}Si_{water}$ .	Depending on the location: $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$ increase or decrease
Human impact	Process	$\delta^{_{30}}Si_{_{diatom}}$
Deforestation	Increase in Si export from the relatively light ASi pool in soils.	Decrease in $\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle 30}Si_{\scriptscriptstyle diatom}$
Land-use changes	Crops have a high Si demand and leave the soil depleted in light Si isotopes. Harvest of crops reduces the release of relatively light Si stored in phytoliths back to the soil system.	Increase in $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$
Damming	Slows down the discharge rate and the flow speed of the tributaries which leads to more diatom production in the river water and less DSi reaching the coastal zone.	Increase in $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$
Nutrient inputs	Changes the N:P:Si ratio in an ecosystem and leads to diatom blooms or shifts in phytoplacton communities (eg. shifts from a Si saturated to a Si limited system).	Depending on the nutrient and foodweb increase or decrease in $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$

in the northern part near the main tributary (freshwater influenced) and one further south influenced by marine water masses, showed distinct differences in  $\delta^{30} Si_{diatom}$ .

As a main result we showed the influence of land use changes in the catchment area on Si fluxes in the northern Chesapeake Bay. Deforestation events since European settlement (since 250 a BP) increased the export of light <sup>28</sup>Si, visible in the  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub> record. The second sediment core, more distal from the main tributary, seemed to be buffered through Atlantic waters and displayed an increase in water level around 7000 a BP changing the former fluvial system into an estuary. Furthermore, an estimated retention rate of Si around 90% for the Chesapeake Bay exceeds all former suggestions for estuarine systems (up to 50%).

The result of this study revealed the need for more detailed analyses in simpler systems with fewer variables that change concurrently (climate, vegetation changes, circulation, anthropogenic impacts, etc.).

# Paper II: The influence of land use changes on continental Si fluxes

Nantke, C.K.M., Brauer, A. Frings, P.J., Czymzik, M., Hübener, T., Stadmark, J., Dellwig, O., Roeser, P. and Conley, D.J. (in review)

Human influence on the continental Si budget during the last 4300 years:  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  in varved lake sediments (Tiefer See, NE Germany).

#### submitted to Quaternary Science Reviews

Based on the findings in Paper I we investigated the sed iments of a lake (Tiefer See, TSK) located in northeastern Germany. The advantage of a welldated (varved) sediment record, a small catchment area (5.5 km<sup>2</sup>) and only one outlet draining the lake provides a more direct  $\delta^{30}$ Si signal. Data availability including diatom productivity, geochemistry and vegetation changes (pollen counts) build a suitable foundation for a detailed analysis of changes in Si cycling through time.



Figure 10: BSi concentration (%),  $\delta^{30}$ Si in ‰ (centric diatoms, orange circles), pennate diatoms (blue circles), mixed diatoms (black circles) and sponge spicules (purple stars), titanium cps and %, phosphorus cps and %, TOC (%), and varve quality index (VQI) in Tiefer See (TSK) plotted for the last 4300 years.

The main aim was to link the variability in  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$ directly to processes both in the lake and changes in the catchment area. Diatom frustules were separated into planktonic (centric) and benthic (pennate) diatoms by hand-picking. A similar trend in planktonic and benthic diatoms within the period suggests a well-mixed ecosystem during the spring diatom bloom.

The results of this article show that changes in the catchment area, especially the vegetation, have a significant influence on the Si cycle. Both, the Si source and the uptake (BSi), vary systematically and were linked to environmental changes. A decrease in  $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$  since around 4000 a BP coincides with deforestation and increasing diatom production (BSi) suggesting DSi inputs as the dominant control (Fig. 10). As Si source we interpret an increased export of light <sup>28</sup>Si from the watershed ASi pool and potentially an increase in terrigenous Si dissolution (also associated with a low  $\delta^{30}$ Si) caused by enhanced soil erosion. An abrupt increase in  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  at ~750 a BP could be linked to intensified landscape cultivation and harvest, leading to a removal of light <sup>28</sup>Si from the soil ecosystem in the catchment.

# Paper III: Si isotopes in lake pore waters

Nantke, C.K.M., Frings, P.J., Stamm, F.M., Dellwig, O., Roeser, P., Czymzik, M., Brauer, A., and Conley, D.J. (manuscript)

#### Si cycling in lake sediments – Si isotopes and dissolved Si concentrations in pore waters from Tiefer See (TSK), Northeastern Germany.

Based on the findings in Paper II we investigated Si cycling in the topmost part of the sediments from Tiefer See. The dissolution of accumulated BSi, secondary minerals and/or (oxyhydr)oxides and the formation of secondary clay minerals are the potential processes controlling Si fluxes from the uppermost layers of sediments, suggested by findings in marine systems. DSi concentrations in the pore waters of the sediment depend on the biogenic Si (BSi) and/or terrigenous Si contents and their reactivity. This again is determined by physical conditions including pH, oxygen concentration and the presence of. elements like Al and Fe with the potential to scavenge Si. Two sediment cores for the measurement of pore waters were retrieved in October 2019 from the deepest part of Tiefer See capturing the uppermost 50 and 90 cm respectively. Si isotopes in pore water samples ( $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>PW</sub>) were measured on a MC ICP-MS (GFZ Potsdam) to investigate Si cycling in the uppermost sediment of a freshwater ecosystem. We tested for the potential of matrix effects induced by components of the porewaters not removed by the cation exchange protocol. A doping experiment with oxalic acid (OA), with OA/Si ratios up to 10, suggests the absence of substantial matrix effects resulting from high dissolved organic carbon concentrations on our  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>PW</sub> data.

The results from both pore water profiles show a decrease in Si isotopes of about 1% through both pore water profiles. A negative correlation between DSi concentrations and  $\delta^{30}Si$  in the pore waters suggest the dissolution of a siliceous material with a low Si isotope ratio as the main control of the decrease (Fig. 11). We considered the influence of BSi, secondary mineral and iron-oxide dissolution. With the comparison to our  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  from Paper II we could conclude that diatom dissolution is not the sole process, since the  $\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle 30}\text{Si}_{_{PW}}$  is too low. Although secondary clay minerals are associated with a light Si isotope signature (approximately between -3 and 1‰) their reactivity is low, especially at pH 6-7 and saturated DSi conditions as measured in Tiefer See pore waters. Consequently, the dissolution of ironoxides is the most likely Si source supported by high Fe concentrations in Tiefer See pore waters.



Figure 11: Si (mg l<sup>-1</sup>) plotted against  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>PW</sub> in both pore water cores and water samples from Tiefer See. PW1 = pore water core 1, PW2 = pore water core 2, WC = water column of TSK in October 2019.

### RECONSTRUCTING SI CYCLING IN TRANSITION ZONES DURING THE HOLOCENE USING TERRESTRIAL AND AQUATIC RECORDS

The quantification of this Fe–Si shuttle and the contribution to the low  $\delta^{30}Si_{PW}$  values in pore fluids at the oxygen minimum zone (OMZ) remains difficult given that Fe undergoes multiple cycles of dissolution and re-precipitation.

## 8. Discussion

# 8.1 The potential of investigating coastal sediments

The 'ecosystem Si filter' including the terrestrial Si pool and the circulation and recycling of Si (DSi and BSi) in soils, lakes and estuaries, control the amount of Si transported to the ocean (Dürr et al. 2011; Struyf and Conley 2011). A complex system of natural and anthropogenic processes has the potential to influence these Si fluxes on different time scales. In this thesis three key components of the continental Si cycle - i.e., estuaries, lakes and pore waters - were investigated to improve our understanding of its variation on short geological time scales (years to centuries). Coastal zones and lakes are both vulnerable systems and provide archives for the investigation of short-term Si flux variability. Si recycling in the uppermost sediments is still poorly investigated and its contribution to the DSi budget, especially in freshwater systems, is

an unknown. Coastal zones are dynamic ecosystems with high nutrient concentrations (N, P and DSi) favouring the growth of diatoms (Jickells 1998). Their role in the global Si cycle is widely discussed but poorly constrained (e.g. Tréguer and De La Rocha 2013; Frings et al. 2016). Large amounts of Si transported as DSi, ASi or minerals via rivers, groundwater and overland flow reach the ocean margins with regional differences. There are a variety of sources, sinks and processes that can alter the amount of Si supply on relatively short annual to centennial timescales. To gain an improved understanding of the 'coastal filter' investigating different coastal ecosystems is necessary. Paleostudies on siliceous organisms (diatoms, sponges) are especially helpful since they provide insight in how Si cycling changed through time and which processes are the main controls. To be able to compare different case studies in the future it is important to reduce the complexity of the ecosystem and create a generally valid conceptual model of how to analyse and interpret changes in  $\delta^{30}\text{Si}_{diatom}.$  In the papers comprising this thesis, we argue that the seasonal Si depletion makes  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$ in coastal areas a proxy for the  $\delta^{30}$ Si of Si supply to the system, which is again influenced by climate and vegetation changes (Fig. 12). It was our aim to distinguish these two factors in Papers I and II. For coastal areas we could show the influence of climate variability and salinity in the Chesapeake Bay and the increasing land use in the watershed to



Figure 12: Steady-state model explaining the influence of  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>DSi</sub> and BSi flux on the  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub> signal in a system with a steady supply of DSi (Nantke et al. 2019).

cause changes in  $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}.$  However, to differentiate the interplay of processes and Si sources was especially challenging. The large size of the study site and the complexity of the watershed made the interpretation complicated. A proxy for DSi or  $\delta^{30}Si_{DSi}$  would help to constrain and improve the analysis of Si isotopes in coastal areas. To calculate the 'Si filter' capacity, it is necessary to constrain the inputs and outputs of the ecosystem. The mass balance for the Chesapeake Bay (Paper I), however, revealed the need for more comprehensive datasets to better constrain the Si budget. The monitoring of inputs (tributaries, groundwater, pore water) as well as the outputs (BSi and terrigenous Si fluxes) are essential for a detailed investigation. For most of the coastal areas it would be of advantage to measure the BSi concentration at different locations with varying conditions to calculate a mean value for the ecosystem. Submarine groundwater discharge, however, has recently been shown to be rather influenced by lithogenic dissolution (Rahman et al. 2019). We showed in Paper I that local differences, especially in relatively large estuaries have to be considered.

### 8.2 Coastal zones and lakes as archives of the continental Si cycle

The continental Si cycle has been investigated in a growing number of studies within the last two decades revealing the importance of the 'terrestrial loop'. The filter capacity of terrestrial ecosystems and their role in controlling Si fluxes to the ocean are a key result that emphasize the importance of ecosystem dynamics (Struyf and Conley 2011). Changes in vegetation, hydrology and Si reactivity all have the potential to alter Si fluxes and are vulnerable to changes induced by climate shifts or human activity. To understand these dynamics and the time scales they are influencing the Si cycle on, paleo-studies are essential. Freshwater systems such as estuaries (Paper I) and lakes (Paper II) have suitable sediment archives recording changes in nutrient cycling through time. They are fastchanging ecosystems globally distributed with the opportunity to build a comprehensive database. Using multi-proxy studies to characterize the site allows us to link changes in  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  to processes in these ecosystems. The results of Paper I revealed the challenge of superimposed processes in the large Chesapeake Bay ecosystem: a shift from a

lake to an estuarine system with increasing salinities as well as a changing vegetation (both natural and human induced) during the Holocene overlay each other. The influence of these processes on the terrestrial Si cycle could be shown but to disentangle their effects on the  $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$  has turned out to be challenging. However, differences between the two sediment cores, located proximal and distal to the main freshwater tributary provide insight into the dominant processes associated with the local conditions of salinity, productivity, oxygen and DSi flux from the watershed. The investigation of a relatively small freshwater lake in Paper II highlights the potential of a more constrained ecosystem. A systematic change in  $\delta^{30} Si_{\mbox{\tiny diatom}}$  linked to shifts in vegetation and water overturning in the lake, could be observed with a relatively high data resolution based on an annually resolved varve-based age model of the sediment core.

### 8.3 The variation in BSi fluxes

Variations in biogenic Si fluxes (BSi fluxes) are interpreted as a proxy for productivity changes. Since diatoms play a key role in most freshwater ecosystems, changes in populations can influence the entire food web and water conditions including nutrient (re)cycling. As described above, variation in diatom growth rates depend on a variety of factors such as e.g. temperature, nutrient availability (DSi, N and P) and competition with other phytoplankton (Sunet al. 2014). Assuming a correlation between deposited BSi and diatom population size, BSi fluxes provide a paleo-archive for DSi uptake and productivity.

Coastal zones and lakes are generally high productivity archives with diatoms dominating the primary production sensitive to eutrophication (Schelske et al. 1983; Kemp et al. 2005), with decreasing diatom diversity correlated with increasing BSi flux. Our results from the Chesapeake Bay (Paper I), however, showed differences between the proximal and the distal core: the BSi flux in the proximal core location, near the main tributary, is twice as high as measured in the distal core. The main observed impacts are sea level rise around 7000 a BP and the intensifying cultivation after European settlement since  $\sim 250$  a BP, both associated with additional nutrient inputs leading to an increased BSi flux. Thus, the distal core location seems to be less influenced by nutrient inputs from the

### RECONSTRUCTING SI CYCLING IN TRANSITION ZONES DURING THE HOLOCENE USING TERRESTRIAL AND AQUATIC RECORDS

catchment. Our mass balance calculation for the Chesapeake Bay suggest a Si retention efficiency of around 90%, much higher than previous studies arrived at (global mean: 20%) (e.g. DeMaster 2002; Tréguer and De La Rocha 2013), implying a much larger buffer function of coastal zones than previously expected.

In Tiefer See (Paper II) the BSi flux is predominantly linked to lake overturning triggered by wind stress with high BSi contents when the lake stratification is more dominant indicated by varved sediments (Fig. 11). Here low turbidity could favour larger blooms. The nutrient supply has a minor impact, at least until land use intensifies around 150 a BP. The preservation efficiency also is likely enhanced during times of more stable stratification: the dissolution of diatom frustules in the water column is decreased causing larger and faster BSi deposition in the sediments. A lack of bioturbation, due to anoxic bottom waters could have a further positive effect on frustule preservation.

Overall, we could show that diatom production and Si uptake has only a minor influence on the  $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$  in our study sites. Unlike marine environments,

where  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  is a proxy for DSi uptake, in our studies BSi flux and  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  are not correlated and DSi supply is most likely the dominant control on the Si cycle.

### 8.4 DSi supply

Papers I and II showed the importance of changing DSi fluxes from soils for the Si budget of freshwater systems and, thus,  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$ . Paleo-changes in the magnitude of DSi fluxes and its  $\delta^{30}Si_{DSi}$  in freshwater ecosystemsare yet determined only indirectly through the absence of a  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$  and BSi flux correlation (Papers I and II) or calculated as a relative value (Swann et al. 2020). Especially for short term changes, a direct proxy would improve the interpretation and identification of the dominant processes on Si (re)cycling rates.

Si isotope ratios in freshwater sponges hold the potential to reflect DSi concentrations. This hypothesis is based on findings from Hendry and Robinson (2012) showing the negative relationship between marine  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>sponge</sub> and DSi concentrations in the ocean. The first reported measurements of



Figure 13:  $\delta^{30}$ Si measured on freshwater sponge spicules from different archives: TSK = Tiefer See (NE Germany), CB = Chesapeake Bay (NE America); prox: core near the main tributary (freshwater); dist: core influenced by fresh and marine water masses, LF = Limfjord (Denmark) and WL = Wisconsin lakes (North America).

freshwater sponges were carried out within this thesis in samples from the Chesapeake Bay (NE America), Tiefer See (NE Germany) and Limfjord (Denmark) as well as 4 lakes from Wisconsin (Grassy Lake, Mystery Lake, Trout Bog and Crystal Bog). The results however show a rather complex picture and no consistent relationships (Fig. 13). A study of freshwater sponges in a variety of different lakes and estuaries would help to constrain this potential relationship.

# 8.5 Human impact on continental Si fluxes

One of the main focuses of this PhD thesis was the investigation of the human impact on the terrestrial Si cycle through time. Previous studies showed significant differences in Si budgets between forested and cultivated land (Clymans et al. 2011b; Vandevenne et al. 2015). The conceptualization of Struyf et al (2010), provides a framework for changes in Si (re)cycling along a land use gradient and the foundation for our investigations.

Papers I and II use Si isotopes to show how variations in climate, vegetation, land use and crop harvest can alter the Si cycle in dynamic freshwater systems on relatively short time scales. For the first time paleo-records have shown that changes in terrestrial Si cycling could be observed through time and linked to processes in the specific archives. In both ecosystems, the Chesapeake Bay (Paper I) and the Tiefer See (Paper II) we found the importance of DSi supply influenced by vegetation changes, in the catchment controlling the  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$ . In periods of increased land cultivation, more rapid changes in  $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{\rm diatom}$  suggested the impact of abrupt land use changes. Especially largescale deforestation seems to trigger the export of DSi from the adjacent soils to the freshwater ecosystem. In Tiefer See (Paper II), however, our results point to a systematic shift of Si cycling in the soil system as a consequence of increased export of light DSi from ASi soil pools: a long-term decrease in  $\delta^{30}Si_{diatom}$ over ~2500 years infer additional processes like the dissolution of terrigenous Si by changes in weathering processes (Fig. 14). For example, below ground pCO<sub>2</sub>, organic acid concentrations, soilsolutionchemistry, and the presence and abundance of mycorrhiza fungal networks all affect the rate at which primary silicate minerals are attacked, and secondary minerals precipitate. A decrease in  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>psi</sub>, as we interpret from our diatom records, therefore infers that progressively more clay Si dissolves. This would mean that weathering beneath cropland and meadows produces more Si-poor clays than forests.

Increasing cultivation and crop harvest were suggested to change the terrestrial Si cycle by decreasing the availability of light Si in the soil and ultimately the local ecosystem (see 4.3, Vandevenne et al. 2015). We could confirm this for Tiefer See (Paper II): the increase in cultivation in the catchment area since ~ 750 a BP here led to a shift towards higher  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub>, suggested as a central impact on the Si cycle in Paper I (Table 1).



Figure 14: Conceptual scheme of Si pools at the soil/vegetation interface (Cornelis and Delvaux 2016).



Figure 15: Pore water  $\delta^{30}$ Si (‰) against DSi (mg l<sup>-1</sup>) from marine sediments: yellow dots: Greenland margin (Ng et al. 2020), orange diamonds: Peruvian margin (Ehlert et al. 2016) and yellow, orange and red triangles: Gulf of California (Geilert et al. 2020) plotted together with data from Tiefer See (Paper III): blue and purple squares.

# 8.6 Controls on Si (re)cycling in lake sediments

Previous studies have shown that most of the diatom frustules already re-dissolve in the water column (up to 97% in marine systems and up to 80% in lakes) and only a small amount gets preserved in the sediments (Tréguer and De La Rocha 2013; Frings et al. 2014). Potential diatom dissolution in the topmost centimeters of the sediments, might act as an additional input changing the Si budget in the lake water. The recycling of BSi in the uppermost sediment (of diatoms after deposition), however, is still poorly investigated and constrained. Studies in marine environments (Ehlert et al. 2016; Geilert et al. 2020; Ng et al. 2020) suggest the importance of BSi dissolution and secondary clay formation in the topmost part of the sediments to be dependent on pH conditions, DSi concentrations and metals such as Al and Fe which have the potential to scavenge Si. Paper III uses for the first time Si isotopes in pore water samples of a freshwater lake (Tiefer See, NE Germany) to investigate Si cycling and fluxes from the sediment.

Our results show a distinct decrease in  $\delta^{\rm 30}Si_{_{PW}}$  and increasing trend in DSi with depth in the

sediment column. This negative correlation fits well with the already published data from marine pore water sites (Fig. 15). The face value interpretation is the input of isotopically light DSi to the pore water solution. However, a more constrained relationship and very high Si concentrations in 90 cm sediment depth in TSK (Fig. 15, PW1) also suggest process differences. Pore water  $\delta^{30}$ Si show a systematic decrease by about 1.5 ‰ in the topmost 30 to 90 cm of sediment implying the dissolution of particulate Si in the uppermost 1 m of the sediment to be the dominant process. Interestingly, deviations between the two retrieved pore water cores suggest local differences, perhaps linked to oxygen saturation in the bottom waters.

To explain our  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>PW</sub> profiles the dissolution of a light Si source is required as described e.g. for the Gulf of California by Geilert et al. (2020). Si-rich precipitates, biogenic Si assimilated by diatoms and clay-sized components (terrigenous Si: secondary minerals, secondary oxides) all preferentially sequester light Si isotopes (Opfergelt et al. 2009). Based on our  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub> measured in TSK for Paper II we are able to preclude the diatom dissolution as the only control on  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>pw</sub>. However, the similarity between  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>pw</sub> to  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub> in the topmost 20 cm

make diatom dissolution as a DSi source in TSK possible. The large-scale dissolution of secondary minerals is unlikely due to a pH between 6 and 7 and high Si concentrations between 1.3 and 30 ppm  $(48 - 1090 \ \mu mol \ l^{-1})$ .

Based on high iron concentrations of 0.029 - 98 mg l<sup>-1</sup> in both pore water profiles, the transport and dissolution of Si bound to iron oxides is the most likely scenario. Delstanche et al. (2009) describes the preferential absorbance of light <sup>28</sup>Si to iron oxides with a Si isotope fractionation estimated between -1.06 and -1.59‰. Anoxic conditions in the sediments then favour their dissolution by reducing Fe III to Fe II. The supply of light DSi to the pore waters due to Fe-oxide dissolution as described for the oxygen minimum zone (OMZ) in the Gulf of California (Geilert 2020) is likely the dominant source in TSK given the anoxic to sulfidic conditions within the last 200 years.

It is still to be analysed to what degree the dissolution of former solid-bound Si in pore waters of TSK, impacts the water column and the DSi budget of the lake. A brief Si dissolution model suggests a DSi flux at the sediment water interface of 0.12 mol m<sup>-2</sup>  $a^{-1}$  in agreement with benthic fluxes calculated for different marine environments ranging from 0.0017 to 3.35 mol m<sup>-2</sup> a<sup>-1</sup> (Frings 2017). Scaled to the size of the lake (0.75 km<sup>2</sup>) a total flux of 5.4 t SiO<sub>2</sub> a<sup>-1</sup> can be estimated. Altogether the dissolution of BSi and terrigenous Si is a potential but poorly investigated Si flux which could alter the Si budget especially in small lakes. Further studies are necessary to explore the influence.

# 9. Conclusions and future perspectives

This PhD thesis highlights the potential of Si isotopes in freshwater ecosystems as a paleo-proxy for terrestrial Si cycling. I was able to link changes in Si (re)cycling to distinct processes such as vegetation and salinity (climate) changes and human impact.

My results from Paper I and II provide knowledge on the timing and amplitude of changes in Si cycling in different freshwater systems that can be linked to changes in the watershed. This is observed in both records from the Chesapeake Bay (Paper I) and Tiefer See (Paper II). Human impact has been shown to have a distinct influence on Si (re) cycling in the transition zone between the terrestrial and the marine realm. Increasing land use enhances DSi export rates from soils to rivers, lakes and coastal zones. The harvest of vegetation and crops also impacts the Si availability in terrestrial ecosystems and on long time scales, in the ocean. The results from Paper II in particular show how fast terrestrial Si cycling can react to land use changes. Within a few decades an ecosystem can change from Si replete to Si limited. Si fluxes from concentrations and Si isotopes in the pore waters suggests the dissolution of particulate Si in the uppermost sediments. Ironoxides are the most likely Si source in the deeper part od the sediment indicated by high Fe concentrations and the range of  $\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle 30}Si_{_{PW}}$  precluding the extensive dissolution of diatom BSi as the only source. A brief calculation suggests a medium Si flux across the sediment water interface of 0.12 mol m<sup>-2</sup> a<sup>-1</sup>.

However, the results of this thesis also revealed knowledge gaps and challenges that need further investigation:

- Paleo-studies in estuaries and lakes are necessary to improve our knowledge about timing and amplitude of changes in terrestrial Si cycling through time. To be able to quantify the filter capacity of transition zones on a global scale it would be important to investigate sites from different climate regions and with varying physical conditions. Superimposing processes influencing the Si cycle, especially observed in the Chesapeake Bay, could be disentangled by comparing small catchments (lakes) with different biogeochemical conditions and with limited nutrient pathways constraining DSi fluxes from terrestrial environments.
- The input and sources of DSi in freshwater environments seem to be controlling Si cycling in freshwater systems and need more attention in future research. Constraining the impact of groundwater inputs, especially in lakes, could help to distinguish different lake ecosystems. The development of a paleo-proxy for DSi concentrations or  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>DSi</sub> would help to interpret changes in  $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub> through time and improve mass balance calculations. Freshwater sponges are currently poorly investigated, but hold the potential to serve as a proxy for Si concentrations in freshwater systems, similar to that developed for marine sponges.

- To increase the data resolution, it would be necessary to decrease the preparation time of the freshwater diatom samples. Hand-picking diatoms has certain advantages but is time consuming and limited by small frustule sizes (<50  $\mu$ m). An improved cleaning protocol or the development of an alternative method to measure Si isotopes (e.g. measurements of single diatom frustules with SIMS) could help to make the preparation more efficient and increase the data resolution.
- Si (re)cycling in sediment pore waters is poorly investigated. A potential Si source through dissolving BSi, secondary clays or iron oxides may change the Si budget of some ecosystems. In particular, isolated lakes without tributaries could be influenced by Si fluxes from the sediments depending on pH, oxygen and DSi concentrations.

# Svensk sammanfattning

Den globala omsättningen av ämnen i biologiska, geologiska, kemiska och fysiskaliska processer och samspelet mellan olika ämnens omsättning är viktiga att förstå då dessa samband används i klimatforskningen. Undersökningar de senaste decennierna har betonat nyckelrollen som kiselomsättningen har eftersom kiselalger växtplankton med kiselinnehåll - är viktiga kolbindare i både salta och söta vattenmiljöer. Genom att studera kiselalger som har bevarats i sedimentet kan man förstå hur tillförseln och exporten av kisel har varierat i systemet över tid. Under de senaste årtiondena har undersökningar visat på stora variationer i kiselflödena mellan växtlighet och mark som kan kopplas till förändringar i markanvändning orsakad av människan. Skiftet från naturlig växtlighet till odlade marker har till exempel visats påverka kiselomsättningen i moderna jordar och växter. Sediment i kustzonen och i sjöar är lämpliga som arkiv för att undersöka hur människans markanvändning förändrat kiselomsättningen på land genom tiderna.

Det huvudsakliga syftet med detta doktorandprojekt är att bättre förstå samspelet mellan källor och sänkor av kisel i landbaserade ekosystem. För att bättre kunna förstå förändringar i den kontinentala kiselbudgeten undersökte vi två platser, Chesapeake Bay, en flodmynning på USA: s östkust och Tiefer See, en sjö i nordöstra Tyskland. Båda platserna har sediment som visar på förändringar i klimat och vegetation sedan den senaste istiden och även spår som kan kopplas till människans aktiviteter i området. Mätningar av flöden av biologiskt bundet kisel (BSi) och av kiselisotoper i nedfallna kiselalgsskal ( $\delta^{30}$ Si<sub>diatom</sub>), som tagits fram från sedimentkärnor, skapar en bild av omsättningen av kisel på land genom tiderna. Denna bild kan sedan jämföras med miljömässiga faktorer som uppodling av mark, avskogning och salthalt.

Denna doktorsavhandling belyser möjligheten att använda kiselisotoper i sötvattensekosystem för att kunna skapa en bild av tidigare landbaserad omsättning av kisel. Vi kunde koppla förändringar i kiselomsättning till vegetation, salinitet (klimat) och mänsklig aktivitet. Våra resultat visar att ökad mänsklig aktivitet, särskilt avskogning och skörd av grödor, påverkar den markbundna kiselomsättningen på geologiskt korta tidsskalor (årtionden-århundraden). Till skillnad från i marina miljöer beror variationen i kiselomsättningen främst på förändringar i inflödet av löst kisel från avrinningsområdet. Våra resultat från prov på porvattnet i sedimentet i Tiefer See väcker frågan hur viktig upplösningen av biologiskt bundet kisel och grundvatteninflöden är för sjöars kiselbudgetar.

Sammantaget undersöker denna avhandling hur klimat och mänsklig aktivitet påverkar den så kallade "markbundna kisel-loopen", ett naturligt filter som avgör hur stor mängd kisel som når havet.

# References

- Alfredsson, H., Hugelius, G., Clymans, W., Stadmark, J., Kuhry, P., Conley, D.J., 2015. Amorphous silica pools in permafrost soils of the Central Canadian Arctic and the potential impact of climate change. Biogeochemistry 124, 441–459. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-015-0108-1
- Alleman, L.Y., Cardinal, D., Cocquyt, C., Plisnier, P., Descy, J., Kimirei, I., Sinyinza, D., André, L., 2005. Silicon isotopic fractionation in lake Tanganyika and its main tributaries. J. Great Lakes Res. 31, 509–519. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0380-1330(05)70280-X

Aller, R.C., 2014. Sedimentary Diagenesis, Depositional Environments, and Benthic Fluxes, in: Treatise on Geochemistry: Second Edition. Elsevier Ltd., pp. 293–334. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-08-095975-7.00611-2

- Barão, L., Vandevenne, F., Clymans, W., Frings, P.J.,
  Ragueneau, O., Meire, P., Conley, D.J., Struyf,
  E., 2015. Alkaline-extractable silicon from land to ocean: A challenge for biogenic silicon determination. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 13, 329–344. https://doi.org/10.1002/lom3.10028
- Cardinal, D., Alleman, L.Y., de Jong, J., Ziegler, K., André, L., 2003. Isotopic composition of silicon measured by multicollector plasma source mass spectrometry in dry plasma mode. J. Anal. At. Spectrom. 18, 213–218. https://doi. org/10.1039/b210109b
- Carey, J.C., Fulweiler, R.W., 2012. The Terrestrial Silica Pump. PLoS One 7, e52932. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0052932
- Carignan, J., Cardinal, D., Eisenhauer, a, Galy, a, Rehkamper, M., Wombacher, F., Vigier, N., 2004. A reflection on Mg, Cd, Ca, Li and Si isotopic measurements and related reference materials. Geostand. Geoanalytical Res. 28, 139-148 ST-A reflection on Mg, Cd, Ca, Li and S. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-908X.2004. tb01050.x
- Carstensen, J., Klais, R., Cloern, J.E., 2015. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science Phytoplankton blooms in estuarine and coastal waters : Seasonal patterns and key species. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 162, 1–12. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecss.2015.05.005
- Clymans, Wim, Govers, G., Wesemael, B. Van, Meire, P., Struyf, E., 2011. Amorphous silica analysis in terrestrial runoff samples. Geoderma 167–168, 228–235. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2011.07.033
- Clymans, W., Struyf, E., Govers, G., Vandevenne,
  F., Conley, D.J., 2011. Anthropogenic impact on amorphous silica pools in temperate soils.
  Biogeosciences 8, 2281–2293. https://doi. org/10.5194/bg-8-2281-2011
- Cockerton, H.E., Street-Perrott, F.A., Barker, P.A., Leng, M.J., Sloane, H.J., Ficken, K.J., 2015. Orbital forcing of glacial/interglacial variations in

chemical weathering and silicon cycling within the upper White Nile basin, East Africa: Stable-isotope and biomarker evidence from Lakes Victoria and Edward. Quat. Sci. Rev. 130, 57–71.https://doi.org/http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2015.07.028

- Conley, D.J., Humborg, C., Smedberg, E., Rahm, L., Papush, L., Danielsson, Ű, Clarke, A., Pastuszak, M., Aigars, J., Ciuffa, D., Mörth, C.M., 2008. Past, present and future state of the biogeochemical Si cycle in the Baltic Sea. J. Mar. Syst. 73, 338–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jmarsys.2007.10.016
- Conley, D.J., Kilham, S.S., Theriot, E., 1989. Differences in silica content between marine and freshwater diatoms. Limnol. Oceanogr. 34, 205–212. https://doi.org/10.4319/ lo.1989.34.1.0205
- Conley, D.J., Schelske, C.L., Stoermer, E.F., 1993. Modification of the biogeochemical cycle of silica with eutrophication. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 101, 179–192. https://doi.org/10.3354/ meps101179
- Cooke, J., Leishman, M.R., 2012. Tradeoffs between foliar silicon and carbon-based defences: Evidence from vegetation communities of contrasting soil types. Oikos 121, 2052– 2060. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2012.20057.x
- Cornelis, J.T., Delvaux, B., 2016. Soil processes drive the biological silicon feedback loop. Funct. Ecol. 30, 1298–1310. https://doi. org/10.1111/1365-2435.12704
- Correll, D.L., Jordan, T.E., Weller, D.E., 2000. Dissolved Silicate Dynamics of the Rhode River Watershed and Estuary. Esturies 23, 188–198.
- De La Rocha, C.L., Brzezinski, M.A., DeNiro, M.J., 1997. Fractionation of silicon isotopes by marine diatoms during biogenic silica formation. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 61, 5051–5056. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(97)00300-1
- De La Rocha, C.L., Brzezinski, M.A., DeNiro, M.J., 1997. Fractionation of silicon isotopes by marine diatoms during biogenic silica formation. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 61, 5051–5056. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(97)00300-1

RECONSTRUCTING SI CYCLING IN TRANSITION ZONES DURING THE HOLOCENE USING TERRESTRIAL AND AQUATIC RECORDS

De La Rocha, C.L., Brzezinski, M.A., DeNiro, M.J., Shemesh, A., 1998. Silicon-isotope composition of diatoms as an indicator of past oceanic change. Nature 395, 680–683. https://doi. org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/30181

Delstanche, S., Opfergelt, S., Cardinal, D., Elsass, F., André, L., Delvaux, B., 2009. Silicon isotopic fractionation during adsorption of aqueous monosilicic acid onto iron oxide. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 73, 923–934. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gca.2008.11.014

DeMaster, D.J., 2002. The accumulation and cycling of biogenic silica in the Southern Ocean: Revisiting the marine silica budget. Deep. Res. Part II 49, 3155–3167. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0967-0645(02)00076-0

DeMaster, D.J., 1996. The Diagenesis of Biogenic Silica : Chemical Transformations Occurring in the Water Column , Seabed , and Crust. Treatise on Geochemistry 87–98.

DeMaster, D.J., 1981. The supply and accumulation of silican in the marine environment. Geochemica Cosmochim. 45, 1715–1732.

Dixit, S., Van Cappellen, P., Van Bennekom, A.J., 2001. Processes controlling solubility of biogenic silica and pore water build-up of silicic acid in marine sediments. Mar. Chem. 73, 333–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4203(00)00118-3

Dürr, H.H., Meybeck, M., Hartmann, J., Laruelle, G.G., Roubeix, V., 2011. Global spatial distribution of natural riverine silica inputs to the coastal zone. Biogeosciences 8, 597–620. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-8-597-2011

Egan, K.E., Rickaby, R.E.M., Leng, M.J., Hendry, K.R., Hermoso, M., Sloane, H.J., Bostock, H., Halliday, A.N., 2012. Diatom silicon isotopes as a proxy for silicic acid utilisation: A Southern Ocean core top calibration. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 96, 174–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gca.2012.08.002

Ehlert, C., Doering, K., Wallmann, K., Scholz, F.,

Sommer, S., Grasse, P., Geilert, S., Frank, M., 2016. Stable silicon isotope signatures of marine pore waters – Biogenic opal dissolution versus authigenic clay mineral formation. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 191, 102–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2016.07.022 Faure, G., Mensing, T.M., 2005. Isotopes: Principles and Applications, 3. ed. ed. John Wiley and Sons Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey.

Frings, P.J., 2017. Revisiting the dissolution of biogenic Si in marine sediments: a key term in the ocean Si budget. Acta Geochim. 36, 429– 432. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11631-017-0183-1

Frings, P.J., Clymans, W., Fontorbe, G., Rocha, C.L. De La, Conley, D.J., 2016. The continental Si cycle and its impact on the ocean Si isotope budget. Chem. Geol. 425, 12–36. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2016.01.020

Frings, P.J., Clymans, W., Jeppesen, E., Lauridsen, T.L., Struyf, E., Conley, D.J., 2014. Lack of steadystate in the global biogeochemical Si cycle: Emerging evidence from lake Si sequestration. Biogeochemistry 117, 255–277. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10533-013-9944-z

Gaillardet, J., Dupré, B., Louvat, P., Allègre, C.J., 1999. GlobalsilicateweatheringandCO<sub>2</sub> consumption rates deduced from the chemistry of large rivers. Chem. Geol. 159, 3–30. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0009-2541(99)00031-5

Galhardo, C.X., Masini, J.C., 2000. Spectrophotometric determination of phosphate and silicate by sequential injection using molybdenum blue chemistry. Anal. Chim. Acta 417, 191–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-2670(00)00933-8

Geilert, S., Grasse, P., Doering, K., Wallmann, K., Ehlert, C., Scholz, F., Frank, M., Schmidt, M., Hensen, C., 2020. Impact of ambient conditions on the Si isotope fractionation in marine pore fluids during early diagenesis. Biogeosciences 17, 1745–1763. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-17-1745-2020

Georg, R.B., Reynolds, B.C., Frank, M., Halliday, A.N., 2006. New sample preparation techniques for the determination of Si isotopic compositions using MC-ICPMS. Chem. Geol. 235, 95–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemgeo.2006.06.006

Hedges, J.I., 1992. Global biogeochemical cycles: progress and problems. Mar. \tChemistry 39, 67–93.

Hendry, K.R., Robinson, L.F., 2012. The relationship between silicon isotope fractionation in

sponges and silicic acid concentration: Modern and core-top studies of biogenic opal. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 81, 1–12. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2011.12.010

- Hofmann, A., Roussy, D., Filella, M., 2002. Dissolved silica budget in the North basin of Lake Lugano. Chem. Geol. 182, 35–55. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0009-2541(01)00275-3
- Homoky, W.B., Weber, T., Berelson, W.M., Conway, T.M., Henderson, G.M., Van Hulten, M., Jeandel, C., Severmann, S., Tagliabue, A., 2016. Quantifying trace element and isotope fluxes at the ocean-sediment boundary: A review, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences. https://doi. org/10.1098/rsta.2016.0246
- Hughes, H.J., Bouillon, S., André, L., Cardinal, D., 2012. The effects of weathering variability and anthropogenic pressures upon silicon cycling in an intertropical watershed (Tana River, Kenya). Chem. Geol. 308–309, 18–25. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2012.03.016
- Humborg, C., Conley, D.J., Rahm, L., Wulff, F., Cociasu,
  A., Ittekkot, V., 2000. Silicon retention in river basins: far-reaching effects on biogeochemistry and aquatic food webs in coastal marine environments. AMBIO A J. 29, 45–50. https://doi.org/10.1639/0044-7447(2000)029[0045:SRIRBF]2.0.C0;2
- Jeandel, C., 2016. Overview of the mechanisms that could explain the "Boundary Exchange" at the land-ocean contact. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 374. https://doi. org/10.1098/rsta.2015.0287
- Jickells, T.D., 1998. Nutrient biogeochemistry of the coastal zone. Science. 281, 217–222.https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.281.5374.217
- Kemp, W.M., Boynton, W.R., Adolf, J.E., Boesch, D.F., Boicourt, W.C., Brush, G., Cornwell, J.C., Fisher, T.R., Glibert, P.M., Hagy, J.D., Harding, L.W., Houde, E.D., Kimmel, D.G., Miller, W.D., Newell, R.I.E., Roman, M.R., Smith, E.M., Stevenson, J.C., 2005. Eutrophication of Chesapeake Bay: Historical trends and ecological interactions. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 303, 1–29. https://doi. org/10.3354/meps303001

Laruelle, G.G., Roubeix, V., Sferratore, A., Brodherr,

B.,Ciuffa, D., Conley, D.J., Dürr, H.H., Garnier, J., Lancelot, C., LeThiPhuong, Q., Meunier, J.D., Meybeck, M., Michalopoulos, P., Moriceau, B., Ni Longphuirt, S., Loucaides, S., Papush, L., Presti, M., Ragueneau, O., Regnier, P., Saccone, L., Slomp, C.P., Spiteri, C., Van Cappellen, P., 2009. Anthropogenic perturbations of the silicon cycle at the global scale: Key role of the land-ocean transition. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 23, 1–17. https://doi. org/10.1029/2008GB003267

- Leng, M.J., Swann, G.E.A., Hodson, M.J., Tyler, J.J., Patwardhan, S. V., Sloane, H.J., 2009. The Potential use of Silicon Isotope Composition of Biogenic Silica as a Proxy for Environmental Change. Silicon 1, 65–77. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12633-009-9014-2
- Litchman, E., Klausmeier, C., Yoshiyama, K., 2009. Contrasting size evolution in marine and freshwater diatoms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA [Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA]. 106, 2665–2670. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0810891106
- Mangalaa, K.R., Cardinal, D., Brajard, J., Rao, D.B., Sarma, N.S., Djouraev, I., Chiranjeevulu, G., Narasimha Murty, K., Sarma, V.V.S.S., 2017. Silicon cycle in Indian estuaries and its control by biogeochemical and anthropogenic processes. Cont. Shelf Res. 148, 64–88. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2017.08.011
- Moon, S., Chamberlain, C.P., Hilley, G.E., 2014. New estimates of silicate weathering rates and their uncertainties in global rivers. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 134, 257–274. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gca.2014.02.033
- Nantke, C.K.M., Frings, P.J., Stadmark, J., Czymzik, M., Conley, D.J., 2019. Si cycling in transition zones: a study of Si isotopes and biogenic silica accumulation in the Chesapeake Bay through the Holocene. Biogeochemistry 1. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10533-019-00613-1.
- Ng, H.C., Cassarino, L., Pickering, R.A., Woodward, E.M.S., Hammond, S.J., Hendry, K.R., 2020. Sediment efflux of silicon on the Greenland margin and implications for the marine silicon cycle. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 529. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.epsl.2019.115877
- Oelze, M., Schuessler, J.A., Blanckenburg, F. Von, 2016. Mass bias stabilization by Mg doping for Si stable isotope analysis by MC-ICP-MS. J.

RECONSTRUCTING SI CYCLING IN TRANSITION ZONES DURING THE HOLOCENE USING TERRESTRIAL AND AQUATIC RECORDS

Anal. At. Spectrom. 31, 2094–2100. https:// doi.org/10.1039/C6JA00218H

- Opfergelt, S., de Bournonville, G., Cardinal, D., André, L., Delstanche, S., Delvaux, B., 2009. Impact of soil weathering degree on silicon isotopic fractionation during adsorption onto iron oxides in basaltic ash soils, Cameroon. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 73, 7226–7240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2009.09.003
- Opfergelt, S., Delmelle, P., 2012. Silicon isotopes and continental weathering processes : Assessing controls on Si transfer to the ocean. Comptes rendus - Geosci. 344, 723–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crte.2012.09.006
- Opfergelt, S., Eiriksdottir, E.S., Burton, K.W., Einarsson, A., Siebert, C., Gislason, S.R., Halliday, A.N., 2011. Quantifying the impact of freshwater diatom productivity on silicon isotopes and silicon fluxes: Lake Myvatn, Iceland. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 305, 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsl.2011.02.043
- Panizzo, V.N., Swann, G.E.A., Mackay, A.W., Vologina, E., Alleman, L., André, L., Pashley, V.H., Horstwood, M.S.A., 2017. Constraining modern-day silicon cycling in Lake Baikal. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 31, 556–574. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016GB005518
- Panizzo, V.N., Swann, G.E.A., MacKay, A.W., Vologina,
  E., Sturm, M., Pashley, V., Horstwood,
  M.S.A., 2015. Insights into the transfer of silicon isotopes into the sediment record.
  Biogeosciences Discuss. 12, 9369–9391.
  https://doi.org/10.5194/bgd-12-9369-2015
- Peucker-Ehrenbrink, B., 2009. Land2Sea database of river drainage basin sizes, annual water discharges, and suspended sediment fluxes. Geochemistry, Geophys. Geosystems 10, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1029/2008GC002356
- Rahman, S., Aller, R.C., Cochran, J.K., 2017.
   The Missing Silica Sink: Revisiting the Marine Sedimentary Si Cycle Using Cosmogenic <sup>32</sup>Si.
   Global Biogeochem. Cycles 31, 1559–1578. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017GB005746
- Rahman, S., Tamborski, J.J., Charette, M.A., Cochran, J.K., 2019. Dissolved silica in the subterranean estuary and the impact of submarine groundwater discharge on the global marine silica budget. Mar. Chem. 208, 29–42.

- Rudnick, R. L., and Gao, S., 2003, 3.01 Composition of the Continental Crust, in Holland, H. D., and Turekian, K. K., editors, Treatise on geochemistry: Oxford, Pergamon, p. 1-64.
- Sauer, D., Saccone, L., Conley, D.J., Herrmann, L., Sommer, M., 2006. Review of methodologies for extracting plant-available and amorphous Si from soils and aquatic sediments. Biogeochemistry 80, 89–108. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10533-005-5879-3
- Schelske, C.L., Stoermer, E.F., Conley, D.J., Robbins, J.A., Glover, R.M., 1983. Early Eutrophication in the Lower Great Lakes. Science (80-.). 222, 320–322. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.222.4621.320
- Seeberg-Elverfeldt, J., Schlüter, M., Feseker, T., Kölling, M., 2005. Rhizon sampling of porewaters near the sediment-water interface of aquatic systems. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 3, 361–371. https://doi.org/10.4319/ lom.2005.3.361
- Shemesh, A., Mortlock, R.A., Smith, R.J., Froelich, P.N., 1988. Determination of Ge/Si in Marine Siliceous Microfossils: Separation, Cleaning and Dissolution of Diatom and Radiolaria. Mar. Chem. 25, 305–323.
- Shotbolt, L., 2010. Pore water sampling from lake and estuary sediments using Rhizon samplers.J. Paleolimnol. 44, 695–700. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10933-008-9301-8
- Siipola, V., Lehtimäki, M., Tallberg, P., 2016. The effects of anoxia on Si dynamics in sediments.J. Soils Sediments 16, 266–279. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-015-1220-5
- Street-Perrott, F.A., Barker, P.A., Leng, M.J., Sloane, H.J., Wooller, M.J., Ficken, K.J., Swain, D.L., 2008. Towards an understanding of late Quatrnary variations in the continental biogeochemical cycle of silicon: multi-isotope and sedimentflux data for lake Rutundu, Mt Kenya, East Africa, since 38 ka BP. J. Quat. Sci. 23, 375–387. https://doi.org/10.1002/jqs
- Struyf, E., Conley, D.J., 2011. Emerging understanding of the ecosystem silica filter. Biogeochemistry 107, 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-011-9590-2
- Struyf, E., Smis, A., Van Damme, S., Garnier, J., Govers, G., Van Wesemael, B., Conley, D.J.,

Batelaan, O., Frot, E., Clymans, W., Vandevenne, F., Lancelot, C., Goos, P., Meire, P., 2010. Historical land use change has lowered terrestrial silica mobilization. Nat. Commun. 129, 1–7. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1128

- Struyf, E., Smis, A., Van Damme, S., Meire, P., Conley, D.J., 2009. The Global Biogeochemical Silicon Cycle. Silicon 1, 207–213. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12633-010-9035-x
- Sun, X., Olofsson, M., Andersson, P.S., Fry, B., Legrand, C., Humborg, C., Mörth, C.M., 2014. Effects of growth and dissolution on the fractionation of silicon isotopes by estuarine diatoms. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 130, 156–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gca.2014.01.024
- Sutton, J.N., Varela, D.E., Brzezinski, M.A., Beucher, C.P., 2013. Species-dependent silicon isotope fractionation by marine diatoms. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 104, 300–309. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gca.2012.10.057
- Swann, G.E.A., Leng, M.J., Juschus, O., Melles, M., Brigham-Grette, J., Sloane, H.J., 2010. A combined oxygen and silicon diatom isotope record of Late Quaternary change in Lake El'gygytgyn, North East Siberia. Quat. Sci. Rev. 29, 774–786. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. quascirev.2009.11.024
- Swann, G.E.A., Panizzo, V.N., Piccolroaz, S., Pashley, V., Horstwood, M.S.A., 2020. Changing nutrient cycling in Lake Baikal, the world's oldest lake. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.2013181117
- Tréguer, P.J., De La Rocha, C.L., 2013. The world ocean silica cycle. Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci. 5, 477– 501.https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevmarine-121211-172346
- Tréguer, P.J., Sutton, J.N., Brzezinski, M., Charette,
  M.A., DeVries, T., Dutkiewicz, S., Ehlert, C.,
  Hawkings, J.R., Leynaert, A., Liu, S.M., Llopis
  Monferrer, N., López-Acosta, M., Maldonado, M.,
  Rahman, S., Ran, L., Rouxel, O.J., 2020. Reviews
  and syntheses: The biogeochemical cycle of
  silicon in the modern ocean. Biogeociences
  Discuss. 1–43. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-2020-274
- Van Cappellen, P., 2003. Biomineralization and global biogeochemical cycles. Rev. Mineral.

Geochemistry 54, 357–381. https://doi. org/10.2113/0540357

- Vandevenne, F., Struyf, E., Clymans, W., Meire, P., 2012. Agricultural silica harvest : have humans created a new loop in the global silica cycle? Res. Commun. 10, 243–248. https://doi. org/10.1890/110046
- $\label{eq:Vandevenne} Vandevenne, F.I., Delvaux, C., Hughes, H.J., Andre, L., Ronchi, B., Clymans, W., Cornelis, J., Govers, G., Meire, P., Struyf, E., 2015. Landscape cultivation alters <math display="inline">\delta^{30} Si$  signature in terrestrial ecosystems. Sci. Rep. 5, DOI: 10.1038/srep07732.https://doi.org/10.1038/srep07732
- Varela, D.E., Pride, C.J., Brzezinski, M.A., 2004. Biological fractionation of silicon isotopes in Southern Ocean surface waters. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 18, 1–8. https://doi. org/10.1029/2003GB002140
- Williams, L.A., Crerar, D.A., 1985. Silica diagenesis, general mechanisms. J. Sediment. Petrol. 55, 312–321. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1306/212F86B1-2B24-11D7-8648000102C1865D

#### LUNDQUA publications

At the Department of Geology, Quaternary Sciences, Lund University, three series are published, named "Thesis", "Report" and "Uppdrag". The "Thesis" series contains doctor dissertations; the "Report" series primary material, often of a monographic character, which cannot be published in extenso in ordinary scientific journals; the "Uppdrag" series contains selected examples of expert reports, generally in Swedish, which may be of some general interest.

The "Thesis" and the "Report" series cover different aspects of Quaternary stratigraphy and environment - methods, lithostratigraphy, biostratigraphy, chronology, as well as their applications within technical geology, resource geology, nature conservancy, archaeology etc. Complete lists of publications may be ordered from the Department of Geology, Quaternary Sciences, Sölvegatan 12, SE-223 62 Lund, Sweden.

1. Nilsson, K. 1973: Glacialgeologiska problem i Sydvästskåne (English summary: Problems of glacial geology in south-western Scania.

2. Bjelm, L. 1976: Deglaciationen av Småländska höglandet, speciellt med avseende på deglaciationsdynamik, ismäktighet och tidsställning. (Deglaciation of the Småland Highland, with special reference to deglaciation dynamics, ice thickness and chronology).

3. Göransson, H. 1977: The Flandrian Vegetational History of Southern Östergötland.

4. Miller, U. 1977: Pleistocene deposits of the Alnarp Valley, southern Sweden Microfossils and their stratigraphic application.

5. Lagerlund, E. 1977: Förutsättningar för moränstratigrafiska undersökningar på Kullen i Nordvästskåne - teoriutveckling och neotektonik (Till stratigraphical studies in the Kullen area, NW Skåne, South Sweden: basic theory and neotectonics.

6. Hilldén, A. 1979: Deglaciationsförloppet i trakten av Berghemsmoränen, öster om Göteborg (English summary: The deglaciation in the vicinity of the Berghem moraine, east of Göteborg).

7. Björck, S. 1979: Late Weichselian stratigraphy of Blekinge, SE Sweden, and water level changes in the Baltic Ice Lake.

8. Andersson, O.H. 1981: Borrning och dokumentation. Borrningsteknik jämte metodik för geologisk datainsamling under borrningsgång (Drilling and documentation).

9. Hjort, C. 1981: Studies of the Quaternary in Northeast Greenland.

10. Hjelmroos Ericson, M. 1981: Holocene development of Lake Wielkie Gacno area, northwestern Poland.

11. Liljegren, R. 1982: Paleoekologi och strandförskjutning i en Littorinavik vid Spjälkö i mellersta Blekinge (English summary: Palaeoecology and shore displacement in a Littorina bay at Spjälkö, Blekinge).

12. Norddahl, H. 1983: Late Quaternary stratigraphy of Fnjóskadalur central North Iceland, a study of sediments, ice lake strandlines, glacial isostasy and ice free areas.

13. Robison, J.M. 1983: Glaciofluvial sedimentation: A key to the deglaciation of the Laholm area, southern Sweden.

14. Sandgren, P. 1983: The deglaciation of the Klippan area, southern Sweden, a study of glaciofluvial and glaciomarine sediments.

15. Åmark, M. 1984: The deglaciation of the eastern part of Skåne, southern Sweden. A study of till and stratified drift.

16. Adrielsson, L. 1984: Weichselian lithostratigraphy and glacial environments in the Ven Glumslöv area, southern Sweden.

17. Waldemarson, D. 1986: Weichselian lithostratigraphy, depositional processes and deglaciation pattern in the southern Vättern basin, south Sweden.

18. Hallsdottir, M. 1987: Pollen analytical studies of human influence on vegetation in relation to the Landnam tephra layer in southwest Iceland.

19. Ingolfsson, O. 1987: Investigation of the Late Weichselian glacial history of the lower Borgarfjördur region, western Iceland.

20. Möller, P. 1987: Moraine morphology, till genesis, and deglaciation pattern in the Åsnen area, south central Småland, Sweden.

21. Harrison, S. 1988: Reconstructing climate from lake level changes.

22. Lemdahl, G. 1988: Palaeoclimatic and palaeoecological studies based on subfossil insects from Late Weichselian sediments in southern Sweden.

23. Malmberg Persson, K. 1988: Lithostratigraphic and sedimentological investigations around the eastern boundary of the Baltic deposits in central Scania.

24. Liedberg Jönsson, B. 1988: The Late Weichselian macrofossil flora in western Skåne, southern Sweden.

25. Svensson, N.O. 1989: Late Weichselian and early Holocene shore displacement in the central Baltic, based on stratigraphical and morphological records from eastern Småland and Gotland, Sweden.

26. Thelaus, M. 1989: Late Quaternary vegetation history and palaeohydrology of the Sandsjön-Årshult area, southwestern Sweden.

27. Regnéll, J. 1989: Vegetation and land use during 6000 years. Palaeoecology of the cultural landscape at two lake sites in southern Skåne, Sweden.

28. Olsson, S. 1991: Geochemistry, mineralogy and pore water composition in uplifted, Late Weichselian -Early Holocene clays from southern Sweden.

29. Ekström, J. 1993: The Late Quaternary History of the Urus (*Bos primigenius* Bojanus 1827) in Sweden.

30. Almquist Jacobson, H. 1994: Interaction of the Holocene climate, water balance, vegetation, fire, and the cultural land use in the Swedish Borderland.

31. Hammarlund, D. 1994: Stable carbon and oxygen isotope studies of Late Weichselian lake sediments in southern Sweden and northern Poland, with palaeoclimatic implications.

32. Eggertsson, Ò. 1994: Origin of the Arctic driftwood a dendrochronological study.

33. Sæmundsson, T. 1995: Deglaciation and shoreline displacement in Vopnafjördur, northeastern Iceland.

34. Snowball, I.F. 1995: Mineral magnetic and geochemical properties of Holocene sediments and soils in the Abisko region of northern Sweden.

35. Berglund, M. 1995: The Late Weichselian deglaciation, vegetational development and shore displacement in Halland, southwestern Sweden.

36. Lagerås, P. 1996: Vegetation and land use in the Småland Uplands, southern Sweden, during the last 6000 years.

37. Yu, G. 1996: Lake level records and palaeoclimates of northern Eurasia.

38. Jiang, H. 1996: Palaeoclimate and palaeoceanography of the Skagerrak-Kattegat since the Late Weichselian based on diatom records.

39. Björkman, L. 1996: The Late Holocene history of beech *Fagus sylvatica* and Norway spruce *Picea abies* at stand scale in southern Sweden.

40. Rundgren, M. 1997: Late Weichselian and early Holocene changes of vegetation, climate and sea level on the Skagi peninsula, northern Iceland.

41. Vassiljev, J. 1997: Simulating the paleorecord of northern European lakes using a coupled lake catchment model.

42. Andersson, G. 1997: Deglaciation pattern and dynamics in the Bolmen area, southwestern Sweden.

43. Barnekow, L. 1999: Holocene vegetation dynamics and climate changes in the Torneträsk area, northern Sweden.

44. Ising, J. 2001: Pollen analysis, chronology and palaeomagnetism of three Late Weichselian sites in southern Sweden.

45. Gedda, B. 2001: Environmental and climatic aspects of the early to mid Holocene calcareous tufa and land mollusc fauna in southern Sweden.

46. Broström, A. 2002: Estimating source area of pollen and pollen productivity in the cultural landscapes of southern Sweden - developing a palynological tool for quantifying past plant cover.

47. Pettersson, G. 2002: Weichselian glaciations in the middle Notec River region, northwest Poland.

48. Alexanderson, H. 2002: Glacial geology and palaeo-ice dynamics of two ice-sheet margins, Taymyr Peninsula, Siberia and Jameson Land, East Greenland.

49. Sander, M. 2003: Climate signals and frequencies in the Swedish Time Scale, River Ångermanälven, Central Sweden.

50. Zillén, L. 2003: Setting the Holocene clock using varved lake sediments in Sweden.

51. Yu, S.-Y. 2003: The Littorina transgression in southeastern Sweden and its relation to mid-Holocene climate variability.

52. Albrecht, J. 2004: Marginal behaviour of the last Scandinavian Ice Sheet during its final termination and deglaciation over Northeastern Germany.

53. Bergman, J. 2005: Tree-limit ecotonal response to Holocene climatic change in the Scandes Mountains of west-central Sweden.

54. Lindén, M. 2006: Glaciodynamics, deglacial landforms and isostatic uplift during the deglaciation of Norrbotten, Sweden.

55. Jessen, C. A. 2006: The ups and downs of the Holocene: exploring relationships between global  $CO_2$  and climate variability in the North Atlantic region.

56. Sparrenbom, C.J. 2006: Constraining the southern part of the Greenland Ice Sheet since the Last Glacial Maximum from relative sea-level changes, cosmogenic dates and glacial-isotatic adjustment models.

57. Kortekaas, M. 2007: Post-glacial history of sea-level and environmental change in the southern Baltic Sea.

58. De Jong, R. 2007: Stormy records from peat bogs in southwest Sweden - implications for regional climatic variability and vegetation changes during the past 6500 years.

59. Schomacker, A. 2007: Dead-ice under different climate conditions: processes, landforms, sediments and melt rates in Iceland and Svalbard.

60. Ljung, K. 2007: Holocene climate and environmental dynamics on the Tristan da Cunha island group, South Atlantic.

61. Håkansson, L. 2008: Glacial history of Northeast Greenland: cosmogenic nuclide constraints on chronology and ice dynamics.

62. Kokfelt, U. 2009: Subarctic ecosystem responses to climate, catchment and permafrost dynamics in the Holocene.

63. Stanton, T. 2011: High temporal resolution reconstructions of Holocene palaeomagnetic directions and intensity: an assessment of geochronology, feature reliability and environmental bias.

64. Nilsson, A. 2011: Assessing Holocene and late Pleistocene geomagnetic dipole field variability.

65. Striberger, J. 2011: Holocene development of Lake Lögurinn and Eyjabakkajökull in eastern Iceland – a multi-proxy approach.

66. Fredh, D. 2012: The impact of past land-use change on floristic diversity in southern Sweden - a quantitative approach based on high-resolution pollen data.

67. Anjar, J. 2012: The Weichselian in southern Sweden and southwestern Baltic Sea: glacial stratigraphy, palaeoenvironments and deglaciation chronology.

68. Edvardsson, J. 2013: Holocene climate change and peatland dynamics in southern Sweden based on tree-ring analysis of subfossil wood from peat deposits.

69. Lougheed, B. 2013: Testing palaeomagnetic and  ${\rm ^{14}C}$  based geochronological methods in the Baltic Sea.

70. Randsalu-Wendrup, L. 2013: The palaeolimnological record of regime shifts in lakes in response to climate change.

71. Bragée, P. 2013: A palaeolimnological study of the anthropogenic impact on dissolved organic carbon in South Swedish lakes.

72. Reinholdsson, M. 2014: Magnetic properties of magnetosomal greigite and factors influencing its occurrence and preservation in Baltic Sea Littorina sediments.

73. Mellström, A. 2014: Investigations of temporal changes in climate and the geomagnetic field via high-resolution radiocarbon dating.

74. Åkesson, M. 2014: On the scope of pesticides in ground-water in Skåne, Sweden.

75. Frings, P. 2014: Integrating fluvial processes into the global Si cycle.

76. Adolphi, F. 2014: Solar activity changes at the end of the last ice age – influences on climate and applications for dating.

77. McKay, C. 2015: Benthic environmental responses to climatic changes during the late Quaternary – a micropalaeonto-logical and geochemical approach.

78. Lenz, C. 2015: Manganese cycling in the Baltic Sea over the past ~8000 years - the influence of redox conditions on mineral formation and burial.

79. Alfredsson, H. 2015: Terrestrial Si dynamics in the Arctic - a study on biotic and abiotic controls.

80. Dowling, T.P.F. 2016: The drumlin problem - stream-lined bedforms in southern Sweden.

81. Ning, W. 2016: Tracking environmental changes in the Baltic Sea coastal zone since the mid-Holocene.

82. Fontorbe, G. 2016: Marine silicon cycle through the Cenozoic.

83. Le, T. 2016 : Causal links of past climate change in Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5 climate models.

84. Bernhardson, M. 2018: Aeolian dunes of central Sweden.

85. Hansson, A. 2018: Submerged landscapes in the Hanö Bay – early Holocene shoreline displacement and human environments in the southern Baltic Basin.

86. Mekhaldi, F. 2018: Cosmogenic radionuclides in environmental archives – a paleo-perspective on space climate and a synchronizing tool for climate record.

87. Sigfusdottir, T. 2019 : Past dynamics of a marine-terminating glacier in lower Borgarfjörður, west Iceland – analyses of glaciotectonic sediments and landforms.

88. Zheng, M. 2020: Disentangling the production and climate signals from high-resolution Beryllium records: implications for solar and geomagnetic reconstructions.

89. Nantke, C. 2020 : Reconstructing Si cycling in transition zones during the Holocene using terrestrial and aquatic records.